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ERRATA ET CORRIGENDA.

.

Page xv., line 21, for ‘ Baedae,” read ‘ Baeda.’

L)

60, plate VIIla., the line of the floor coincides with the bottom of the
tinted part.

61, the section of the hood-mould of the chancel windows has been
printed upside down.

69, for ‘cap. 1st pillar from E.,’ read ®cap. 2nd pillar from E.’

78, lines 8 and 9 from top, for see margin,’ read *see p. 77.’

77, note, for €115, read ¢ 1154.’

100, note, for ¢ It is not a little curious that bishop Hatfield’s,’ read ‘It is
not a little curious that, with the exception of that of Ruthall,
bishop Hatfield’s,’ etc.

118, line 18 from top, for ¢ portem,’ read ¢ partem.’

170, line 3 from bottom, for ¢ pretendent,’ read ¢prétendaient.’

170, line 6 from bottom, for ¢ perpétueés,’ read ¢ perpétue.’

171, line 9 from top, for ¢ oubliér,’ read ‘ oublier.”

221, line 12, for ‘surcoat,” read ° breastplate.” Of course the rings came
through the surcoat.



REPORT
ThHe Society of Antiquavies

NEWCASTLE-UPON-TYNE.
ANNUAL MEETING, M.DCCC.XCVIIL.

THE monthly meetings of the society have been well attended
throughout the year, and several interesting papers contributed by
members, some of which will be of permanent value as preserved in
the Archacologia Aeliana. Your council, however, think it right to
point out that good and interesting as the papers have been, they
were contributed by only a very few of our members ; and they would
urge all the members of the society to take part in its primary work,
by reading notes or papers on matters of local history.

Though very inadequately supported by the Northumbrian public,
the Northumberland Excavation Committee has continued its opera-
tions this year and has achieved some interesting results. The
Roman camp of Aesica (Great Chesters) has again been the scene of
the excavators’ labours. A large building outside of the camp on the
south-east has been excavated and reveals several chambers, some of
them furnished with hypocausts ; this was probably the home of one
of the officers of the garrison with his family, or, from the size of
the building, we may conjecture that more than one distinguished
family has here taken np its quarters. Excavations have also been
made in the centre of the camp which have at last brought to light
some inscribed stones. Three fine examples have been discovered,
one of them bearing an interesting inscription to the memory of a
young Roman lady who probably died at Aesica.*

* Vide Arch. Ael. vol. xix. p. 268.
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Other Roman inscriptions recently discovered, include the slab at
Chesters recording the supply of water to Cilurnwm while Ulpius
Marcellus was governor of Britain and the second cohort of Asturians
in garrison, and an altar at South.Shields naming Julius Verax, a
centurion of the sixth legion.*

The eastern portion of the late sixteenth century pele of Dodd-
ington the most prominent object in the village, and a picturesque
building, ¢ one of the most charming remains of border architecture,’
fell down during a storm in the early part of the year; the re-
maining portion is in danger of sharing the same fate. It has been
asserted that there is neither written history nor tradition about the
tower, but as has been truly said, its history ‘was clearly written on
its walls. In 1584 Sir Thomas Grey was obliged to build a strong
house of this description for the protection of his tenants at Dodd-
.ington, but art and industry had so decayed on the Border that he
was unable to build it of better masonry. It is of great importance
to keep up this unique building now that its counterpart at Kilham is
gone.’

The members of the Armourers’ company have granted a repairing
lease of the Herber tower to the corporation of Newcastle for a long
term, so that this interesting and valuable building, the most complete
of the few wall towers remaining, is now saved from destruction.

The corporation of Newcastle, at our suggestion, has placed the
old camera of Adam de Gesmuth in Heaton Park, locally known as
¢King John’s Palace,” in a condition of repair sufficient to resist the
action of the weather.

The corporation of Newcastle, under the direction of the city
engineer (Mr. W. @&. Laws), has remounted the ordnance on the
battlements of the keep, and the new gun-carriages restore the
carronades to the embrasures where they once more present an
effective feature of the parapets of the Old Castle.

During three days in May last an exhibition of silver plate
manufactured in Newcastle was held under the auspices of the society
in the uppermost room of the Black Gate museum. It was in every
way successful ; it was highly appreciated by the public, as every class
of work, ecclesiastical and civil, was represented in the collection. A

* Vide Arch. Ael. vol. xix. p. 273,
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catalogne of the different objects is being prepared and will be ready
shortly for issue to the members. It will be fully illustrated,
several of the exhibitors having given illustrations of their respective
exhibits.

The banners in the great hall of the Castle yet require the arms
of Sir Ralph de Neville, Radcliffe, Lord Derwentwater, Sir Robert
Bertram, Sir William de Montagu, Sir William de Tyndall, Robert
de Raymes, Sir William de Herle, the Countess of Pembroke, Sir
John d’Arcy and Clavering (all to be of silk and four feet six inches
square, except the Neville banner, which is to be six feet square), to
make up the number of baronial fendatories who served in castleward
the Castle of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, etc. An appeal is made, especially
to the lady members of our society, for assistance in rendering this
highly decorative feature of the building complete. Any member
wishing to present one of the banners may obtain particulars of the
arms from Mr. Blair one of our secretaries.*

Country meetings during the year were held at Corbridge and
Dilston, at Easington, Dalton-le-Dale and Seaham, and at Elsdon,
Otterburn and Bellingham, and were well attended. The respective
parties were hospitably received at Dilston castle by our member,
Mr. James Hall, who, with Mr. Heslop, described the building, and
at Seaham vicarage, where the vicar, the Rev. A. Bethune, pointed
out the objects of interest in and about his church. Our thanks are
due to them.

Under the scheme adopted by the society in 1894, as much
progress has been made in the printing of our parish registers as the
small sum allocated for that purpose would permit. The registers of
Esh down to 1813 and Dinsdale baptisms and burials to the same
year are in the hands of the members, as are also instalments of the
registers of Elsdon and Warkworth. To Mr. Crawford Hodgson and
to one or two of his friends the society is indebted for a contribution
of £15 towards the cost of printing the Warkworth register, and to
Dr. Longstaff of £5 towards that of the Dinsdale register. Mr. D. D.
Dixon, one of our members, is continuing the printing of the
Rothbury registers in the Rothbury Parish Magazine, and Dr.
Burman, another member, has commenced to print the Alnwick

* V. Proc. 111, 10, 17, 42, 49, 134, 177, 216, 248 ; and IV. 178. ,
IR RIS I b
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registers at his private press. An appeal has been made to our
members for assistance in printing local parish registers, and it is
hoped that the favourable terms on which a local organization is
enabled to co-operate with the Register Society will induce a cordial
response to the invitation to send names of subscribers to Mr. H. M.
Wood of Whickham.

We have entrusted Mr. Sheriton Holmes with the task of
compiling a short guide for visitors to the keep of the castle, and
congratulate the members on having secured the services of one whose
knowledge of the structure and whose literary and artistic accomplish-
ments are a guarantee that this desirable work will be satisfactorily
carried out.

The printing of the general index to the transactions of the
society (Archaeologia and Proceedings) has been completed, and it is
now in the hands of the subscribers.

The fourth volume of the great County History of Northumberland,
concluding the account of Hexhamshire, has just been completed, and
our fellow-member, Mr. J. Crawford Hodgson, under whose editorship
it has been produced, is to be congratulated on the admirable manner
in which he has carried out his arduous and honorary task.

Auother work of historical interest has been published by our
fellow-member, Mr. William Weaver Tomlinson, whose LZLife in
Northumberland during the Sizteenth Century is not only a descrip-
tion of contemporary history but a work of literary ability.

Amongst the members whose loss by death during the year the
society has to regret are Mr. John Crosse Brooks, one of the vice-
presidents and the generous donor to the society of the large collection
of valuable autographs, portraits, etc., and Sir Augustus Wollaston
Franks, the president of the Society of Antiquaries of London, an
honorary member.

TREASURER’S REPORT, DECEMBER 31sT, 1897.

During the year three deaths have occurred, including that of our
late vice-president, Mr. J. C. Brooks. There has otherwise been a
loss of twenty-two members, which has been equivalented by the
election of twenty-two new members. The total number of ordinary
members now stands at 344, of whom five have compounded for their
subseriptions.
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The total revenue has been £538 3s. 8d., and the expenditure
£510 2s. 11d., showing a balance of income over expenditure of
£28 2s. 9d. The receipts from members’ subscriptions have been
£356 18s.

There has been a considerable falling off in the number of publica-
tions sold at the Castle, due possibly, in some measure, to the absence
for some weeks of our warden, Mr. Gibson, who has had a serious
illness. He is now, I am happy to state, sufficiently recovered to be
able again to attend to his duties. The amount paid for books stands
abt £16 18s. 8d. The second part of the general index has cost £26.

The repairs to the Castle and Black Gate buildings have been
heavy, and the balance of receipts and expenditure on the two build-
ings therefore shows a profit of only £9.

The printing of the Proceedings and registers has cost £76 17s. éd.,
but of this sum £20 is borne by Mr. J. Crawford Hodgson and a few
friends and by Dr. Longstaff, who have subscribed, the former £15
towards the Warkworth, and the latter £5 towards the Dinsdale,
registers.

The expenditure upon the Archaeologia Aeliana has amounted to
£81 17s. 6d. only, as against £116 11s. 6d. last year. The cost of
the illustrations has also been less.

The expenditure on account of the musenm amounts to £21 8s.11d.,
£20 of which is due to a contribution of the society towards the cost
of the various articles of antiquity found in making the excavations at
the station of Aesica, on the Roman Wall.

The expenditure under the head of sundries has been £81 7s. 8d.,
but this includes a sum of £12 9s., the cost of insurance and watching
at the Black Gate during the exhibition of Newcastle plate in that
building.

The balance carried forward to 1898 is £100 9s. 8d., and the
capital account with interest now stands at £51 1s. 8d.

Sheriton Holmes, Hon. Treasurer.
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Sheriton. Holmes, Treasurer, in account with the Society of Antiquaries

of Newcastle-upon-Tyne.

STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR ENDING

DecemBERr 31sT, 1897.
Receipts. Expenditure.

£ 8 d. £ s d.

Balance on January 1st, 1897 ... ot A2 =Sl L
Members’ Subscriptions ... 356 18 0
Books 1517 9 16 18 8
Castle 116 4 7 89 6 9
Black Gate 27 8 4 4512 8§
Printing: Archaeologia Aehana [ N 8117 6
Proceedings and registers ... Sl 20 SO0 T 6174 6
General Index (part ii.) ... 26 0 0
Illustrations et 2818 3
Museam 21 811
Sundries 115 0 8 2 8
Secretary (clerical asslstance) 40 0 O
Balance 100 9 8

£610 12 7 £61012 7

Note.—The cost of printing the Warkworth and Dinsdale registers is in-
cluded in the item Proceedings and registers, but the cost to the society of
this is lessened by the following donations:—

Mr. Crawford Hodgson, towards cost of Warkworth register ... £15 0 0

Dr. Longstaff, towards cost of Dinsdale register ... .. 500

Examined and approved,

20th Januwary 1898.

£20 0 0

JoHN PHILIPSON.
p.p. JoEN M. WiINTER, RoBT. P. WINTER.

Capital ZFlccount. £ s d. £ s d

Invested 1n 2% per cent. Consois .. 5 420885

Dividends and interest to December 3lst, 1891 8 8 i3
51 1 8
£51 1 8
CASTLE— Details of Erpenditure. £ s d.
Salaries ... .. 6916 O
Insurance ONNTENG
Rent 0 2 6
Water Rate 0 6 0
Gas ¢ 0 410
Poors Rate 019 2
Property Tax ... g 110 6
Tucandescent Gas Burners 4 00
Gas Fittings 2 . 011 6
Repairs to Building .. 9 0 0
Coal and Sundries 2 8 9
£89 6 9
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BLACK GATE— £ '8 'd.
Salaries... 21..61.0
Insurance 215 0
Rent 1 00
Water Rate 1 00
Gas 27010
Poors Rate 015 5
Property Tax ... 1 50
Repairs to Building ... 151 9
Floor Cloth 01 8

£45 12 8

MUSEUM— £51GE Gk
Carriage of Stones from Adesica ... 0 711
Two Diamond Jubilee Medals 050
Frames and Glasses for Pictures 016 0
Contribution towards the Payment for the Anthultles found at

Aesica S . 20 0 O
£21 8§ 11

Books, &C., BOUGHT—
Drawings by the Rev. W. Darnell ...
Bourne’s History of Ryton ...
Leland’s Collectanea ...
Plummer’s Bacdae 5
Macdonald’s Birrens and its Antzquztws
Transactions of the Imperial German Arrhaeologlca] Instltute
Cocks’s Church Bells of Buckinghamshire
History of Doddington, Lincolnshire
Year-book of Societies
Austin Canons
Der Obergermamsch-Raetisclws Wall
Bedford’s Blazon of Episcopacy
Prescott’s Register of the Priory of Wetkemll .

Macgibbon & Ross, Feclesiastical Architecture of Scntland
vol. iii.

»
oo o

c~ococoOo OO ~HOWw®
[
-3

(e 2]
—
Moo, Oo

115 0

Catalogue of the Edznbm qh Antzquarmn Museum N 015
Tuer’s History of the Horn Book ... 05 0
Northern Genealogist 010 6
’I‘omlmlon s Guide to Nmthumberland 0 3 9
Waters, for Binding ... ZR GG
£16 18 8

SUNDRIES— coas GBI
Reid & Co., for general printing, ete. 7SI
Nicholson, for general printing 3318 5
Gibson, postage and carriage 8§ 9 1
Secretary’s expences ... 14 8§ 7
Treasurer’s do. 1 6 0

|
|

Carried forward ... ... 6510 8
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SUNDRIES (Continued)— £ s d
Brought forward... 6510 8
Cheque Book ... ok 05 0
Subscription—Harleian Socmty Tl TN)
Do. —Surtees Society 3 1% 2540,
Do. —Register Society ... 2 110
Expences attending the exhibition of Newcastle plate in Black
Gate :—
Insurance against fire ... s £300. 0
Do. do. burglary ... e 210 0
Watching expences ... 814 0
14 4 0
Less—Balance received from Plate Committee 1 15 0
—_ 12 9 0
£81 7 8

The curators reported that the following donations to the museum
had been made during 1897 : —

1897.
Feb. 24.

April 28.

July 28,

Aug, 25.

Sept. 29.

Nov. 24.

Dec. 15.

1898,
Jan, 26.

From Mr. A. D. PARK :—(i.) A sand-glass, with a run of two hours’
duration, formerly attached to the pulpit of a church; (ii.) pair of
Mexican spurs, with long-pointed rowels of antique pattern; (iii.)
a fabricated heirloom belonging to the stock of the quasi ¢ Countess
of Derwentwater’;. this is a German hunting knife, the maker’s
stamp on which is 1810; an inscription has been cut ‘From the
isle of Derwent, 1310, in order to give to it a fictitious antiquity;
(iv.) a horn lantern, which was formerly in the possession of Mr.
John Hancock (Proc. vol. viii. pp. 13 and 32).

From Mr. WM. OLLIFF, Newcastle :—A bicycle, made in 1864, of the
type now commonly known as ‘a boneshaker’ (idid. p. 32).

From Mr. H. W. Young, F.8.A. Scot.:—Plaster cast of an early
Christian inscription discovered at Burghead, Moray Firth (ibid.
vol. viii. p. 62).

From Mr. JOHN VENTRESS :—Plaster cast of the Newcastle goldsmiths’
punch-plate (ébid. p. 84).

From Mr. JOHN BRAITHWAITE, Gosforth, Newcastle :—Flail from
Hall Flat farm, Irton, Cumberland (ibid. p. 88).

From Mr. JoHN GOOLDEN, ex-Mayor of Newcastle :—Iron key from
the 0ld Gaol, Newgate, Newcastle (ébid. p. 98). g

From Mr. W. J. SANDERSON, Gosforth, Newcastle (per Messrs. Oliver &
Leeson) :—Two sculptured stones of medieval date, found in
demolishing houses in the Crown and Thistle yard, Pudding chare,
immediately behind the west end of Collingwood street, Newcastle,
one a grave cover, the other a gable cross (¢bid. pp. 98 and 105).

From Dr. G. ALDER BLUMER, Utica, U.S.A.:—A small Roman coin of
the Constantine period found during the restoration of Monkwear-
mouth church several years ago. The inscription on the obverse is
CONSTANTINOPOLIS, and on the reverse the letters TR - P. in the
exergue (ibid. p. 110). .
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The sign * indicates that the member has compounded for his subscription,
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1885
1886
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1885
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1883
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July
June
Jan.
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Jan.
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July

Mar.
Feb.
July
July

31
28
31
24
27
27
30
30
30
24
29

25
22
29
25

April 27

Jan.
Mar.
Sept.
Dec.
Dec.
June

7
30
26
23
28
29

April 25

July

Dec.
Dec.
June
May

28

27
27
27
25

1888 Sept. 26

1 that the member is one of the Council.

Adams, William Edwin, 32 Holly Avenue, Newcastle.
FAdamson, Rev. Cuthbert Edward, Westoe, South Shields.
tAdamson, Rev. Edward Hussey, St. Alban’s, Felling, R.S.0.
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umberland.
Bates, Stuart Frederick, 20 Collingwood Street, Newcastle.
Baumgartner, John Robert, 10 Eldon Square, Newcastle.
Bell, John E., The Cedars, Osborne Road, Newcastle.
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+Blair, Robert, F.S.A., South Shields.
Blenkinsopp, Thomas, 3 High Swinburne Place, Newcastle.
Blindell, William A., Wester Hall, Humshaugh.
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Boyd, George Fenwick, Whitley, R.S.0., Northumberland.
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Date of Election. |
Feb.

1894
1891
1891
1896
1892
1896
1897
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Dec.
Oct.

Nov.
Aug.
July
Nov.

1860 Jan.

1892
1891
1891
1893
1884
1897
1891

1889
1888
1884
1897
1887
1885
1892
1892
1882
1896
1884
1894
1887
1885
1896
1892

1895
1885

1895
1896
1883
1893
1892
1886
1893

Feb.
Dec.
July
June
Sept.
Nov.
Sept.

28
23
28
25
31
29
24

4
24
23
29
28
24
24
30

April 24

Nov.
Dec.
Jan,
Nov,

28
30
27
30

April 29

Dec.
July

Oct.
Feb,
Jan,
Oct.
Nov.
Aug.
Feb.

Sept.
May

Nov.
Jan,
Dec.
July
Aug.
Sept.
July

28
27

28
27
31
26
25
26
24

25
27

27
29
27
26
31
29

Boyd, William, North House, Long Benton.
Braithwaite, John, 19 Lansdowne Terrace, Gosforth, Newcastle.
Branford, William E., 90 Grey Street, Newcastle."
Brass, John George, The Grove, Barnard Castle.
Brewis, Parker, 32 Osborne Road, Newcastle.
Brock-Hollinshead, Mrs., Woodfoot House, Shap, Westmorland.
Brooks, Miss Ellen, 14 Lovaine Place, Newcastle.
Brown, Rev. Dixon, Unthank Hall, Haltwhistle.
Brown, George T., 17 Fawcett Street, Sunderland.
Brown, The Rev. William, Old Elvet, Durham.
*Browne, A. H., Callaly Castle, Whittingham, R.8.0.
Browne, Thomas Procter, Grey Street, Newcastle.
Bruce, The Hon. Mr. Justice, Yewhurst, Bromley, Kent.
Bryers, Thomas Edward, The Cottage, Whitburn, Sunderland.
Burman, C. Clark, L.R.C.P.S. Ed., 12 Bondgate Without,
Alnwick, 3
Burnett, The Rev. W. R., Kelloe Vicarage, Coxhoe, Durham.
Burton, William Spelman, 19 Claremont Park, Gateshead.
Burton, S. B., Ridley Villas, Newcastle.
Butler, George Grey, Ewart Park, Wooler.
Cackett, James Thoburn, 24 Grainger Street, Newcastle.
Carlisle, The Earl of, Naworth Castle, Brampton.
Carr, Frederick Ralph, Lympston, near Exeter.
Carr, Sidney Storey, 14 Percy Gardens, Tynemouth.
Carr, Rev. T. W., Barming Rectory, Maidstone, Kent.
Carr-Ellison, H. G., 21 Wentworth Place, Newcastle.
Carr-Ellison, J. R., Hedgeley, Alnwick, Northumberland.
Carse, John Thomas, Amble, Acklingtén.
Challoner, John Dixon, Mosley Street, Newcastle.
Charleton, William L.
Charlton, Henry, 1 Millfield Terrace, Gateshead.
Charlton, Oswin J., B.A., LL.B., 36 Victoria Road, Kensington
Palace, London, W.
Chester, Mrs., Stamfordham, Newcastle.
Chetham’s Library, Hunt’s Bank, Manchester (Walter T. Browne,
Librarian).
Clapham, William, Park Villa, Darlington.
Clayton, John Bertram, Chesters, Humshaugh, Northumberland.
iClephan, Robert Coltmau, Southdene Tower, Saltwell, Gateshead.
Cooper, Robert Watson, 2 Sydenham Terrace, Newcastle.
Corder, Herbert, 10 Kensington Terrace, Sunderland.
Corder, Percy, 41 Mosley Street, Newcastle.
Corder, Walter Shewell, 4 Rosella Place, North Shields.




Date of Election.

1887 Jan.
1898 Feb.
1892 Oct.
1888 Feb,
1896 Feb.
1897 Dec.
1889 Aug.
1888 Mar.
1891 Nov.
1844 about
1887 Aug.
1893 July
1884 Mar.
1893 Mar.
1883 June
1884 Aug.
1884 July
1884 July
1897 May
1892 Nov.
1884 Mar.
1891 Aug.
1888 June
1881

1886 May
1883 Oct.
1886 Aug.
1865 Aug.
1875

1894 Nov.
1884 Jan.

1894 May
1896 Aug.
1887 Dec.
1894 Oct.
1894 Oct.
1890 Mar.
1895 Jan.

26
23
26

26
31
28

28
30

30
26
2¢
31
31
26
30

1892 April 27

1892 Aug.
1859 Dec.
1883 Oct.

31
7
31
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Cowen, Joseph, Stella Hall, Blaydon.
Crawhall, Rev. T. E., Wall Vicarage, North Tynedale.
Cresswell, G. G. Baker, Junior United Service Club, London, S.W.
tCrossman, Sir William, K.C.M.G., Cheswick House, Beal.
Cruddas, W. D., M.P., Haughton Castle, Humshaugh.
Culley, Francis John, 5 Northumberland Terrace, Tynemouth.
Culley, The Rev. Matthew, Tow Law, co. Durham.
Darlington Public Library, Darlington.
Deacon, Thomas John Fuller, 10 Claremont Place, Newcastle.
1Dees, Robert Richardson, Pilgrim Street, Newcastle.
+Dendy, Frederick Walter, Eldon House, Jesmond, Newcastle.
Denison, Joseph, Sanderson Road, Newcastle.
Dickinson, John, Park House, Sunderland.
Dickinson, William Bowstead, Healey Hall, Riding Mill.
Dixon, John Archbold, 5 Wellington Street, Gateshead.
Dixon, Rev. Canon, Warkworth Vicarage, Northumberland.
Dixon, David Dippie, Rothbury.
Dotchin, J. A., 65 Grey Street, Newcastle.
Drummond, Dr., Wyvestow House, South Shields.
Drury, John C., 31 Alma Place, North Shields.
Dunn, William Henry, 5 St. Nicholas’s Buildings, Newcastle.
Durham Cathedral Library.
East, John Goethe, 26 Side, Newcastle.
Edwards, Harry Smith, Byethorn, Corbridge.
+Embleton, Dennis, M.D., 19 Claremont Place, Newcastle.
Emley, Fred., Ravenshill, Durham Road, Gateshead.
Featherstonhaugh, Rev. Walker, Edmundbyers, Blackhill,
Fenwick, George A., Bank, Newcastle.
Fenwick, John George, Moorlands, Newcastle.
Ferguson, John, Dene Croft, Jesmond, Newcastle.
Ferguson, Richard Saul, F.8.A., Chancellor of Carlisle, Lowther
Street, Carlisle.
Forster, Fred. E,, 32 Grainger Street, Newcastle.
Forster, George Baker, M.A., Farnley, Corbridge, R.S.0.
Forster, John, 26 Side, Newcastle.
Forster, Robert Henry, Farnley, Corbridge, R.S.0.
Forster, Thomas Emmerson, Farnley, Corbridge, R.S.0.
Forster, William, Houghton Hall, Carlisle.
Forster, William Charlton, 33 Westmorland Road, Newcastle
Francis, William, 20 Collingwood Street, Newcastle.
Gayner, Francis, King’s College, Cambridge.
Gibb, Dr., Westgate Street, Newcastle.
Gibson, J. Pattison, Hexham.




Xxii

Date of Election.
1879
1878

1896 Jan. 29
1886 June 30
1886 Oct. 27
1895 Sept. 25
1894 Aug. 29
1886 Aug. 28
1896 Dec. 23
1883 Feb. 28
1891 Oct. 28
1845 June

w

1883 Feb. 28

o

1877 Dec.
1891 Jan. 28
1893 Mar. 8
1883 Aug. 29
1883 Aug. 29
1887 Mar. 30
1892 Aug. 31
1884 Mar. 26
1893 Aug. 30
1889 Feb. 27
1882
1894
1893
1886
1884
1891
1883

May 30
Aug. 30
April 28
Feb. 27
Oct. 28
Feb. 28

Feb. 28
April 25

1883
1888
1882
1865 Aug. 2
1895 Jan. 30
1890 Jan. 29
1884 April 30
1887 Jan. 26
1895 July 31
1891 Oct. 28
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Gibson, Thomas George, Lesbury, R.S.0., Northumberland.
Glendinning, William, Grainger Street, Newcastle.
Glover, Rev. William, 48 Rothbury Terrace, Heaton, Newcastle.
Gooderham, Rev. A., Vicarage, Chillingham, Belford.
Goodger, C. W. 8., 20 Percy Gardens, Tynemouth,
Gough, Rev. Edward John, Vicar and Hon. Canon of Newcastle.
Gradon, J. G., Lynton House, Durham.
Graham, John, Findon Cottage, Sacriston, Durham.
Graham, Matthew Horner, 61 Osborne Road, Newcastle.
Green, Robert Yeoman, 11 Lovaine Crescent, Newcastle.
Greene, Charles R.; North Seaton Hall, Newbiggin-by-the-Sea.
tGreenwell, Rev. William, M.A., D.C.L.,, F.R.S., F.S.A, Hon.
F.S.A. Scot., Durham.
Greenwell, His Honour Judge, Greenwell Ford, Lanchester, co.
Durham. :
fGregory, John‘Vessey, 10 Framlington Place, Newcastle.
Haggie, Robert Hood, Blythswood, Osborne Road, Newcastle.
Hall, Edmund James, 9 Prior Terrace, Tynemouth. *
Hall, James, Tynemouth.
Hall, John, Ellison Place, Newcastle.
Halliday, Thomas, Myrtle Cottage, Low Fell, Gateshead.
Harrison, John Adolphus, Saltwellville, Low Fell, Gateshead.
Harrison, Miss Winifred A., 9 Osborne Terrace, Newcastle.
Hastings, Lord, Melton Constable, Norfolk,
*Haverfield, F. J., M.A,, Christ Church, Oxford.
Haythornthwaite, Rev. Edward, Felling Vicarage, Gateshead.
Hedley, Edward Armorer, 8 Osborne Villas, Newcastle.
Hedley, Ralph, 19 Bellegrove Terrace, Newcastle.
Hedley, Robert Cecil, Cheviot, Corbridge.
Henzell, Charles Wright, Tynemouth.
Heslop, George Christopher, 8 Northumberland Terrace, Tynemouth.
t+Heslop, Richard Oliver, 12 Princes Buildings, Akenside Hill,
Newecastle.
Hicks, William Searle, Grainger Street, Newcastle.
Hindmarsh, William Thomas, Alnbank, Alnwick.
Hodges, Charles Clement, Hexham.
+Hodgkin, Thomas, D.C.L., F.S.A., Bank, Newcastle.
Hodgkin, Thomas Edward, Bamburgh Castle, Belford.
tHodgson, John Crawford, Warkworth.
Hodgson, John George, Exchange Buildings, Quayside, Newcastle.
Hodgson, William, Rockwood, Shinfield Road, near Reading.
Hogg, John Robert, North Shields.
Holmes, Ralph Sheriton, 8 Sanderson Road, Newcastle.




Date of Election.
1877 July 4
1892 June 29
1882

1895 Dec. 18

1876
1896
1896
1888
1894
1897
1894
1886
1882
1883
1883
1884
1896
1897
1896
1894
1897
1885
1887
1894

April 29
July 29
July 25
May 30
Dec. 15
Feb. 28
May 26

29
28
2
23
28
20

Aug.
Feb.
Oct.

Dec.
July
Sept.
Sept. 26
Jan. 27
April 29
June 29
July 25

©

1896
1850
1888
1877
1884
1884
1891
1895
1884
1882
1898 Oct. 25
1891 Mar. 25
1888 Sept. 26
1894 July 25
1891 Jan. 28

Nov. 256
Nov. 6
June 27

Mar. 26
Aug. 27
May 27
Sept. 26
Mar. 26

1897 Mar. 31
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fHolmes, Sheriton, Moor View House, Newcastle.
Hopper, Charles, Monkend, Croft, Darlington.
Hopper, John, Grey Street, Newcastle
Houldsworth, David Arundell, 2 Rectory Terrace, Gosforth, New-
castle.
Hoyle, William Aubone, Normount, Newcastle.
Hudson, Robert, Hotspur Street, Tynemouth,
Hulbert, Rev. E. C., Grange Clergy House, Jarrow.
Hunter, Edward, 8 Wentworth Place, Newcastle.
Hunter, Thomas, Jesmond Road, Newecastle.
Hutchinson, Edward, The Elms, Darlington.
Ingledew, Alfred Edward, Percy Park, Tynemouth.
Irving, George, West Fell, Corbridge.
Johnson, Rev. Anthony, Healey Vicarage, Riding Mill.
Johnson, Rev. John, Hutton Rudby Vicarage, Yarm.
Joicey, Sir James, Bart., M.P., Longhirst, Morpeth.
+Knowles, William Henry, 38 Grainger Street West, Newcastle,
Lambert, Thomas, Town Hall, Gateshead.
Laws, Dr. Cuthbert Umfreville, 65 Osborne Road, Newcastle.
Lee, Rev. Percy, Birtley Vicarage, Wark, North Tynedale.
Leeds Library, The, Commercial Street, Leeds.
Lightfoot, Miss, 5 Saville Place, Newcastle.
Liverpool Free Library (P. Cowell, Librarian).
Lockhart, Henry ‘F., Prospect House, Hexham.
Long, Rev. H. F., Hon. Canon of Newcastle, The Glebe, Bamburgh,
Belford.
Longstaff, Dr. Geo. Blundell, Highlands, Putney Heath, London, S.W,
Lynn, J. R. D., Blyth, Northumberland.
Macarthy, George Eugene, 9 Dean Street, Newcastle.
McDowell, Dr. T. W., East Cottingwood, Morpeth.
+Mackey, Matthew, Jun., 8 Milton Street, Shieldfield, Newcastle.
Maling, Christopher Thompson, 14 Ellison Place, Newcastle.
Manchester Reference Library (C. W. Sutton, Librarian).
Marley, Thomas William, Netherlaw, Darlington.
Marshall, Frank, Mosley Street, Newcastle.
Martin, N. H., F.L.S., 8 Windsor Crescent, Newcastle.
Mather, Philip E., Bank Chambers, Mosley Street, Newcastle.
Maudlen, William, Gosforth, Newcastle.
Mayo, William Swatling, Riding Mill, Northumberland.
Mearns, William, M.D., Bewick Road, Gateshead.
Melbourne Free Library (cfo Melville, Mullen,
12 Ludgate Square, London, E.C.)

and Slade,

Milburn, Joseph, Highfield, Marlborough, Wilts.
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Date of Election.

1891
1896
1883
1883
1883
1883
1886
1896
1883
1896
1884
1895
1883
1896
1885
1893

1889
1897

1891
1894
1889
1896
1884
1898
1893
1882
1891
1884
1892
1884
1880
1871
1888
1898
1880
1896
1882

1887
1882
1883

‘Aug.
Jan.
Mar.
May
Feb.
Oct.
Dec.
Oct.
June

26
29
28
30
28
13
29
28
27

April 29

July
Feb.
Jan.
May
May
Feb.

Aug,
Oct.

Feb.
Dec.
Aug,
Oct.
Dec.
Jan.
Mar.
Feb.
Jan.

Nov.
Sept.

Jan.
Feb.

Mar.

Aug.

June

2
27
31
27
27
22

28
27

18
19
28
28
30
26
29

18
30

30
24

23

25

31

27

Mitcalfe, John Stanley, Percy Park, Tynemouth.
Mitchell, Charles William, Jesmond Towers, Newcastle.
Moore, Joseph Mason, Harton, South Shields.
Morrow, T. R., 2 St. Andrew’s Villas, Watford, Herts.
Morton, Henry Thomas, Twizell House, Belford, Northumberland.
Motum, Hill, Town Hall, Newcastle.
Murray, William, M.D., 9 Ellison Place, Newcastle.
Neilson, Edward, 172 Portland Road, Newcastle.
Nelson, Ralph, North Bondgate, Bishop Auckland.
Newecastle, The Bishop of, Benwell Tower, Newcastle.
Newecastle Public Library.
Newton, Robert, Brookfield, Gosforth, Newcastle.
Nicholson, George, Barrington Street, South Shields,
Nisbet, Robert 8., 8 Grove Street, Newcastle.
Norman, William, 23 Eldon Place, Newcastle.
Northbourne, Lord, Betteshanger, Kent.
ftNorthumberland, The Duke of, Alnwick Castle, Northumberland.
Oliver, Prof. Thomas, M.D., 7 Ellison Place, Newcastle.
Ogle, Bart., R.N.,, Capt. Sir Henry A., United Service Club, Pall
Mall, London.
Ord, John Robert, Haughton Hall, Darlington.
Oswald, Joseph, 33 Mosley Street, Newcastle.
Park, A. D., 11 Bigg Market, Newcastle.
Parker, Miss Ethel, The Elms, Gosforth, Newcastle.
Parkin, John 8., 11 New Square, Lincoln’s Inn, London, W.C.
Peacock, Reginald, 47 West Sunniside, Sunderland.
Pearson, Rev. Samuel, Percy Park, Tynemouth.
Pease, John William, Pendower, Benwell, Newcastle.
Pease, Howard, Bank, Newcastle.
Peile, George, Greenwood, Shotley Bridge.
Percy, The Earl, Alnwick Castle, Northumberland.
+Phillips, Maberly, F.S.A., 12 Grafton Road, Whitley, R.8.0.
Philipson, George Hare, M.A., M.D., Eldon Square, Newcastle.
1Philipson, John, Victoria Square, Newcastle.
Plummer, Arthur B., Prior’s Terrace, Tynemouth.
Porteus, Thomas, 3 Poplar Crescent, Gateshead.
Proud, John, Bishop Auckland.
Pybus, Rev. George, Grange Rectory, Jarrow.
Pybus, Robert, 42 Mosley Street, Newcastle.
+Ravensworth, The Karl of, Ravensworth Castle, Gateshead.
Reavell, George, jun., Alnwick.
Redmayne, R. Norman, 27 Grey Street, Newcastle.
Redpath, Robert, 4 Bentinck Road, Newcastle.




Date of Election.
1888 May 30
1894 Feb. 28
1897 April 28
1883 Sept. 26
1891 April 29

1894
1886
1894
1891
1895
1898
1892
1889
1877

1883
1884
1882
1894
1897
1877
1893
1893
1892
1891
1887
1888
1893

1891
1892
1886
1888
1883
1891
1888
1895
1889
1892
1891
1893
1896
1883

May
Nov.
Jan,
July
July
Jan.
Mar.
July

Jan.
July

Mar.
Sept.

Mar.

30
24
31
29
31
26
30
31

31
30

April 26

Sept.
Dec.
Jan.
July
Nov.

Sept.
Aug.
Feb.
June
Feb,
July
Oct.
May
May
Oct.
Nov.
Mar.
Dec.
June

28
23
26
25
29

30
31
24
27
28
29
31
29
29
26
18
29
23
27
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Reed, The Rev. George, Killingworth, Newcastle.
Reed, Thomas, King Street, South Shields.
Reid, C. Leopold, Wardle Terrace, Newcastle.
Reid, William Bruce, Cross House, Upper Claremont, Newcastle.
Reynolds, Charles H., Millbrook, Walker.
Reynolds, Rev. G, W., Rector of Elwick Hall, Castle Eden, R.S.O.
Rich, ¥, W., Eldon Square, Newcastle.
Richardson, Miss Alice M., Esplanade, Sunderland.
Richardson, Frank, South Ashfield, Newcastle.
Richardson, Mrs, Stansfield, Thornholme, Sunderland.
Richardson, William, Rosehill, Willington Quay.
Riddell, Edward Francis, Cheeseburn Grange, near Newcastle.
Ridley, John Philipson, Bank House, Rothbury.
Ridley, Bart., M.P., The Right Hon. Sir M. W., Blagdon, Northum-
berland.
Robinson, Alfred J., 136 Brighton Grove, Neweastle.
Robinson, John, High Street, Sunderland.
Robinson, William Harris, 20 Osborne Avenue, Newcastle.
Robson, John Stephenson, Sunnilaw, Claremont Gardens, Newcastle.
Robson, Lancelot, 12 Stockton Street, West Hartlepool.
Rogers, Rev. Percy, M.A., Simonburn Rectory, Humshaugh.
Rowell, George, 100 Pilgrim Street, Newcastle.
Runciman, W., Fernwood House, Newcastle.
Rutherford, Henry Taylor, Blyth.
Rutherford, John V. W., Briarwood, Jesmond Road, Newcastle.
Ryott, William Stace, 7 Collingwood Street, Newcastle.
Sanderson, Richard Burdon, Warren House, Belford.
tSavage, Rev. H. E., Hon. Canon of Durham and Vicar of St. Hild’s,
South Shields.
Scott, John David, 4 Osborne Terrace, Newcastle.
Scott, Owen Stanley, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle.
Scott, Walter, Grainger Street, Newcastle.
Scott, Walter, Holly House, Sunderland.
Sheppee, Lieutenant-Colonel, Birtley House, Birtley, co. Durham.
Sidney, Marlow William, Blyth.
Simpson, J. B., Bradley Hall, Wylam.
Simpson, Robert Anthony, East Street, South Shields
Sisson, Richard William, 13 Grey Street, Newcastle.
Skelly, George, Ainwick.
Smith, William, Gunnerton, Barrasford.
Smith, William Arthur, 71 King Street, South Shields.
Sopwith, Henry Thomas, 2 Tankerville Terrace, Newcastle.
South Shields Public Library (Thomas Pyke, Librarian).
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Date of Election.
1866 Jan. 3
1883 Dec. 27
1882
1891 Jan. 28
1883 Dec. 27
1882
1885 June 24
1873

1887 Mar. 30
1880

1897 Jan. 27
1879

1866 Dec. &
1887 Nov. 30
1895 Feb. 27
1860 Jan. 6
1892 April 27
1884 Oct. 29
1896 Nov. 25

1896 Dec. 23
1883 Jan. 31
1888 Aug. 29
1892 June 29
1891 Jan. 28
1888 Feb. 29
1888 Oct. 31
1888 Nov. 28
1894 Mar. 28

1897 Mar. 31
1897 Aug. 25
1895 Dec. 18
1884 Mar, 26
1889 Oct. 30
1896 July 29
1894 May 30
1884 Feb. 27

*{Spence, Charles James, South Preston Lodge, North Shields.
Spencer, J. W., Millfield, Newburn, Newcastle.
Steavenson, A. L., Holywell Hall, Durham.
Steel, The Rev. James, D.D., Vicarage, Heworth.
Steel, Thomas, 51 John Street, Sunderland.
Stephens, Rev. Thomas, Horsley Vicarage, Otterburn, R.S.0.
Stephenson, Thomas, 3 Framlington Place, Newcastle.
ftStevenson, Alexander Shannan, F.S.A. Scot.,, Oatlands Mere,
Weybridge, Surrey.
Straker, Joseph Henry, Howdon Dene, Corbridge.
Strangeways, William Nicholas, Brefini Villa, Eglinton Road,
Donnybrook, Dublin.
Sunderland Public Library.
Swan, Henry F., North Jesmond, Newcastle.
Swinburne, Sir John, Bart., Capheaton, Northumberland.
Tarver, J. V., Eskdale Tower, Eskdale Terrace, Newcastle.
Taylor, Rev. E. J.,;! F.8.A,, St. Cuthbert’s, Durham.
Taylor, Hugh, 57 Gracechurch Street, London.
Taylor, Thomas, Chipchase Castle, Wark, North Tynedale.
Taylor, Rev. William, Catholic Church, Whittingham, Alnwick.
Temperley, Henry, LL.M., Lambton Road, Brandling Park, New-
castle,
Temperley, Robert, M.A., 18 Grainger Street West, Newcastle.
Tennant, James, Low Fell, Gateshead.
Thompson, Geo. H., Baileygate, Alnwick.
Thomson, James, jun., 22 Wentworth Place, Newcastle.
Thorne, Thomas, Blackett Street, Newcastle.
Thorpe, R. Swarley, Devonshire Terrace, Newcastle.
Todd, J. Stanley, Percy Park, Tynemouth.
+Tomlinson, William Weaver, 6 Bristol Terrace, Newcastle.
Toovey, Alfred F., Ovington Cottage, Prudhoe.
Toronto Public Library, c/o C. B. Cazenove & Sons, Agents,
26 Henrietta Street, Covent Garden, London, W.C.
Townsend, Brian, Snowsgreen House, Shotley Bridge.
Trotter, Dr. James, Bedlington.
Turner, 8. C., 5 Collingwood Street, Newcastle.
Tweddell, George, Grainger Ville, Newcastle.
Vick, R. W., Strathmore House, West Hartlepool.
*Ventress, John,? Wharncliffe Street, Newcastle.
Vincent, William, 18 Oxford Street, Newcastle.
Waddington, Thomas, Eslington Villa, Gateshead.

1 Elected originally Jan. 31, 1876, resigned 1887. Elected originally Aug. 6, 1356.
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Date of Election.
1891 Er. 25| Walker, The Rev. John, Hon. Canon of Newcastle, Whalton
Vicarage, Morpeth.

1896 Nov. 25| Walker, John Duguid, Osborne Road, Newcastle.

1890 Aug. 27| Wallace, Henry, Trench Hall, near Gateshead.

1896 Oct. 28| Wallis, Arthur Bertram Ridley, B.C.L., 83 Gray’s Inn Square,
London.

1889 Mar. 27| Watson-Armstrong, W. A., Cragside, Rothbury.

1896 Aug. 26| Watson, Henry, West End, Haltwhistle,

1887 Mar. 30| Watson, Joseph Henry, Percy Park, Tynemouth,

1892 Oct. 26| Watson, Mrs. M. E., Burnopfield.

1887 Jan. 26| Watson, Thomas Carrick, 21 Blackett Street, Newcastle.

1895 May 29| Weddell, George, 20 Grainger Street, Newcastle.

1879 Mar. 26 |t Welford, Richard, Thornfield Villa, Gosforth, Newcastle.

1889 Nov. 27| Wheler, E. G., Swansfield, Alnwick.

1886 June 30| Wilkinson, Auburn, M.D., 14 Front Street, Tynemouth.

1892 Aug. 31| Wilkinson, The Rev. Ed., M.A., Whitworth Vicarage, Spennymoor.
1893 Aug. 30| Wilkinson, William C., Dacre Street, Morpeth.

1896 May 27| Williams, Charles, Moot Hall, Newcastle.

1891 Aug. 26| Williamson, Thomas, jun., Lovaine House, North Shields.

1897 Sept. 29 | Willyams, H. J., Burndale Cottage, Alnwick.

1885 May 27| Wilson, John, Archbold House, Newcastle.

1891 Sept. 30| Winter, John Martin, 17 Percy Gardens, Tynemouth.

1896 Feb. 26| Wood, Herbert Maxwell, The Cottage, Whickham, R.S.0,

1897 Oct. 27| Worsdell, Wilson, Gateshead.

1886 Nov. 24| Wright, Joseph, jun., Museum, Barras Bridge, Newcastle.

1894 Oct. 31| Young, Hugh W., F.8.A. Scot., 36 Coates Gardens, Edinburgh,
1896 Dec. 23| Young, William, 15 Osborne Avenue, Newcastle,

SOCIETIES WITH WHICH PUBLICATIONS ARE EXCHANGED.

Antiquaries of London, The Society of (Assistant Secretary, W. H. St. John
Hope, M.A.), Burlington House, London.

Antiquaries of Scotland, The Society of (c/o Dr. J. Anderson, Museum), Edin-
burgh,

Royal Argchaeological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, The, 20 Hanover
Square, London, W.

Royal Irish Academy, Dublin.

Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland, The (c/o Robert Cochrane, 7 St.
Stephen’s Green, Dublin).

Royal Society of Ireland, Dublin.

Royal Society of Northern Antiquarics of Copenhagen, The

Royal Academy of History and Antiquities, Stockholm, Sweden.

Royal Society of Norway, The, Christiania, Norway.

Aberdeen Ecclesiological Society, cfo F. C, Eeles, Munross, Stonehaven, N.B,

Berwickshire Naturalists’ Club, The (Secretary and Zditor, James Hardy, LL.D.,
Oldcambus, Cockburnspath, N.B.)
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Bristol and Gloucester Archaeological Society, The (Secretary, The Rev. W.
Bazeley, Matson Rectory, Gloucester).
British Archaeological Association, The (Secretaries, W. de Gray Birch, F.S.A.,
British Museum, and G. Patrick, 16 Red Lion Square, London, W.C.)
Cambrian Antiquarian Society, The (cfo J. Romilly Allen, F.S.A., 28 Great
Ormond Street, London, W.C.)

Cambridge Antiquarian Society, The (Secretary, T. D. Atkinson, St. Mary’s
Passage, Cambridge).

Canadian Institute of Toronto, The

Cumberland and Westmorland Antiquarian and Archaeological Society, The,
Tullie House, Carlisle.

Derbyshire Archaeological Society, The (Arthur Cox, Hon. Sec., Mill Hill,
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STATUTES OF THE SOCIETY OF ANTIQUARIES OF
NEWCASTLE-UPON-TYNE, AS AMENDED AT
THE ANNUAL MEETINGS OF THE SOCIETY
ON THE 28ta JANUARY, 1891, AND ON THE
3lst JANUARY, 1894.

1.—This Society, under the style and title of ‘ THE SocreTy
OF ANTIQUARIES OF NEWCASTLE-UPON-TYNE, shall consist
of ordinary members and honorary members. The Society
was established on the 6th day of February, 1818, when the
purport of the institution was declared to be ¢inquiry into
antiquities in general, but especially into those of the North of
England and of the counties of Northumberland, Cumberland,
and Durham in particular.’

II.—Candidates for election as ordinary members shall be
proposed in writing by three ordinary members at a general
meeting, and be elected or rejected by the majority of votes of
ordinary members at that meeting, unless a ballot shall be
demanded by any member, which in that case shall take place
at the next meeting, and at such ballot three-fourths of the
votes shall be necessary in order to the candidate’s election.
The election of honorary members shall be conducted in like
manner. '

ITI.—The ordinary members shall continue to be members
so long as they shall conform to these statutes, and all future
statutes, rules, and ordinances, and shall pay an annual
snbscription of one guinea. The subscription shall be due on
election, and afterwards annually in the month of January in
every year. Any member who shall pay to the Society twelve
guineas in addition to his current year’s subscription shall be
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XXX STATUTES : ELECTION OF OFFICERS, ETC.

discharged from all future payments. A member elected at or
after the meeting in October shall be exempt from a further
payment for the then next year, but shall not be entitled to the
publications for the current year. If the subscription of any
ordinary member shall have remained unpaid a whole year the
Council may remove the name of such person from the list of
members, and he shall thereupon cease to be a member, but
shall remain liable to pay the subscription in arrear, and he
shall not be eligible for re-election until the same shall have
been paid.

IV.—The officers of the Society shall consist of a patron, a
president, vice-presidents (not to exceed twelve in number), two
secretaries, treasurer, twelve other members (who with the presi-
dent, vice-presidents, secretaries, treasurer, and librarian shall
constitute the Council), an editor, a librarian, two curators, and
two auditors. These several officers shall be elected annually,
except the patron, who shall be elected for life.

V.—The election of officers shall be out of the class of
ordinary members. Any ordinary member may nominate any
ordinary member or members (subject to statute VI) (not
exceeding the required number) to fill the respective offices.
Every nomination must be signed by the person nominating,
and sent to the Castle of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, addressed to
the secretaries, who shall cause it to be immediately inserted on
a sheet-list of nominations, which shall be exhibited in the
library of the Castle, and notice shall forthwith be given to the
person so nominated. Any person nominated may, by notice in
writing, signify to the secretaries his refusal to serve, or if
nominated to more than one office, may in like manner, signify
for which office or offices he declines to stand, and every
nomination so disclaimed shall be void. The list of nomina-
tions shall be finally adjusted and closed ten days before the
Annual Meeting, or before a Special Meeting to be held within
one month thereafter. If the number of persons nominated for
any office be the same as the number to be elected the person or
persons nominated shall be deemed elected, and shall be so



STATUTES : GENERAL MEETINGS, ETC. XXx1

declared by the chairman at such Annual or Special Meeting.
If the number of persons nominated for any office exceed the
number to be elected then the officer or officers to be elected
shall be elected from the persons nominated and from them
only; and for that purpose a printed copy of the list of nomina-
tions and one voting paper only shall be furnished to each
ordinary member with the notice convening the Annmal or
Special Meeting. If the number of persons nominated for any
office be less than the number to be elected, or if there be no
nomination, then the election to that office shall be from the
ordinary members generally. Whether the election be from a
list of nominations, or from the ordinary members generally,
each voter must deliver his voting paper in person, signed by
him, at the Annual or Special Meeting. The chairman shall
appoint scrutineers, and the scrutiny shall commence on the

conclusion of the other business of the Annual or Special Meet--

ing, or at such earlier time as the chairman may direct, if the
other business shall not have terminated within one hour after
the commencement of the Annual or Special Meeting. No
voting paper shall be received after the commencement of the
scrutiny.

VI.—Those of the ¢ twelve other members’ (see statute IV)
of the Council who have not attended one-third of the meetings
of the Council during the preceding year, shall not be eligible
for election for the then next year.

VII.—A general meeting of the members of the Society shall
be held on the last Wednesday of every month, in the Castle of
Newcastle-upon-Tyne. The meeting in January shall be the
Annual Meeting, and shall be held at one o’clock in the after-
noon, and the meeting in every other month shall be held at
seven o'clock in the evening. But the Society or the Council
may from time to time appoint any other place or day or hour
for any of the meetings of the Society. The presence of seven
ordinary members shall be necessary in order to constitute the
Annual Meeting, and the presence of five ordinary members
shall be necessary in order to constitute any other meeting. A
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Special General Meeting may be convened by the Council if,
and when, they may deem it expedient.

VIIIL.—The ordinary members only shall be interested in the
property of the Society. The interest of each member therein
shall continue so long only as he shall remain a member, and
the property shall never be sold or otherwise disposed of (except
in the case of duplicates hereinafter mentioned) so long as there
remain seven members ; but should the number of members be
reduced below seven and so remain for twelve calendar months
then next following, the Society shall be pso facto dissolved,
and after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities the property
of the Society shall be delivered unto and become the property
of the Literary and Philosophical Society of Newcastle-upon-
Tyne, if that Society be then in existence and willing to receive
the same; and should that Society not be in existence and
willing to receive the same, then the same shall be delivered to
and become the property of the Mayor, Aldermen, and Citizens
of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. No dividend, gift, division, or
bonus in money shall be made unto or between any of the
members.

IX.—All papers shall be read in the order in which they are
received by the Society. A paper may be read by the author,
or by any other member of the Society whom he may desire to
read it, or by either of the secretaries; but any paper which is
to be read by the secretaries shall be sent to them a week
previous to its being laid before the Society.

X.—The Council shall be entrusted with the duty and charge
of selecting and illustrating papers for the publications of the
Society (other than the Proceedings); and that no paper be
printed at the Society’s expence before it be read in whole or
in part at a meeting; and that no paper which has been
printed elsewhere be read at any meeting unless it be first
submitted to the Council at a meeting of the Council, nor
printed in the Society’s transactions except at the request of
the Council. Two illustrated parts of the Archacologia shall
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be issued to members in the months of January and June in
each year, such parts to be in addition to the monthly issue
of the Proceedings, and the annual report, list of members, ete.

XI.—That the Society, at any ordinary meeting, shall have
power to remove any member from the list of members. The
voting to be by ballot, and to be determined by at least four-
fifths of the members present and voting, provided, neverthe-
less, that no such removal shall take place unless notice thereof
shall have been given at the next preceding ordinary meeting.

XII.—All donations to the Society shall be made through
the Council, and a book shall be kept in which shall be regularly
recorded their nature, the place and time of their discovery, and
the donors’ names. All dnplicates of coins, books, and other
objects, shall be at the disposal of the Council for the benefit of
the Society.

XIII.—Every ordinary member, not being in arrear of his
annual subscriptions, shall be entitled to such publications of the
Society as may be printed for the year of his first subscription
and thereafter if in print; and he may purchase any of the
previous publications of which copies remain, at such prices as
shall be from time to time fixed by the Council.

XIV.—Each member shall be entitled to the use of the
Society’s library, subject to the condition (which - applies to all
privileges of membership) that his subscription for the current
year be paid. Not more than three volumes at a time shall be
taken out by any member. Books may be retained for a month,
and if this time be exceeded, a fine of one shilling per week
shall be payable for each volume retained beyond the time. All
books must, for the purpose of examination, be returned to the
library on the Wednesday preceding the Annual Meeting under
a fine of 2s. 6d.; and they shall remain in the library until after
that meeting. Manuscripts, and works of special value, shall
not circulate without the leave of the Council. The Council
may mitigate or remit fines in particular cases.
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ARCHAEOLOGIA AFELIANA.

——

I.—OBITUARY NOTICE OF THE LATE WILLIAM HYLTON
DYER LONGSTAFFE, A VICE-PRESIDENT
OF THE SOCIETY.
By Ricearp WELFORD, M.A., a vice-president of the society.
[Read on the 30th day of March, 1898.]

On the 6th of November, 1850, the roll of members of the
Newcastle Society of Antiquaries was inscribed, for the first time,
with the name of William Hylton Longstaffe—a young man of four
and twenty, who had already given proof of precocious devotion to
archaeological research, and promise of notable success in that
absorbing pursuit.

Eldest son of a family of nine, Mr. Longstaffe was born ab
Norton, near Stockton-on-Tees, on the 2nd of September, 1826.
His father and grandfather were surgeons, his great-grandfather was
a clergyman who had married a descendant of the Hyltons of Durham
—Ilawyers and doctors in the county palatine for several generations.
His mother was a great-granddaughter of Dyer the poet.

Endowed with intelligence befitting this intellectual ancestry, Mr.
Longstaffe was sent at the proper age to the free grammar school of
his native village. In our day, when educational machinery is run at
high pressure, the old grammar schools of the country are too often
regarded as relics of the past—interesting, but obsolete. In Mr.
Longstaffe’s boyhood they were the mainsprings of intellectual pro-
gress, the mechanism by which the children of all but the poorest
were prepared for the active pursuits of commerce and industry, or
started on the highway to learning and scholarship. Intended for
a professional career, young Longstaffe struck the higher path.
Mingling devotion to the classics with excursions into heraldry and
genealogy—his father’s favourite studies—and occasional deviations
into botany and natural history, he made rapid progress. A brilliant
future seemed to be opening ont before him ; he was already npon its
threshold, when the death of his father arrested his steps and threw

VOL, XX. 1



2 THE LATE WILLIAM HYLTON DYER LLONGSTAFFE :

him back upon his own resources. TLongstaffe senior died, a victim
to adverse fortune, on the 1st of November, 1842, a few weeks after
his eldest boy had completed the sixteenth year of his age.!

Deprived thus suddenly of the means of completing his studies,
young Mr. Longstaffe sought temporary employment in the office of
a family friend, Mr. Peters, a law stationer, in the city of York.
Thence, after only a few weeks’ trial, he entered upon the duties
of clerk with a solicitor at Thirsk. In 1845 he came to Darlington
under a similar engagement with Mr. John Shields Peacock, an
attorney in good practice, whose wife was the daughter of Mr. Francis
Mewburn, chief bailiff of the town.

While at Thirsk Mr. Longstaffe had followed the pursuits of his
boyhood, and had increased their number by the study of church
architecture. He came to Darlington with a collection of notes,
" drawings, and sketches which excited the interest of Mr. Mewburn
(himself a careful annalist and collector), and brought about an
introduction to Mr. Robert Henry Allan of Blackwell Grange, the
descendant of munificent contributors with press, pen, and purse to
local history and local authors. Seeing the bent of his mind, these
gentlemen gave Mr. Longstaffe access to their libraries, their local
muniments, and their collections of ancient records.

One evening in January, 1848, the assembly room of the ¢ Sun Inn,’
at Darlington, was crowded by townspeople, assembled, under the pre-
sidency of the chief bailiff, to hear a lecture on the ancient history of
their town by the young man from Mr. Peacock’s office, then in
his twenty-second year. The lecture was successful, so successful,
indeed, that everybody wanted more. In this way was laid the
foundation of Longstaffe’s History of Darlinglon, or, as it was then
more modestly designated, Darlington : Its Annals and Characteristics.
With the assistance of Mr. Allan and Mr. Mewburn the youthful

! Mr. Longstaffe describes his father as ‘a minute amateur etcher, collec-
tor, and illuminator of coins, shields, book plates, and seals.’” ‘The grass grows
green on his unrecorded grave, and some may only name him as the vendor of
ancient family possessions. But I knew him as a man so full of curious inform-
ation that we never walked without my returning struck with something new
and attractive.” ‘An arrangement for his admittance into the Heralds’ College
fell through, but his collection of some 1,200 book plates, mestly original, from
old books, but many gorgeously illuminated designs from his own pencil, form a
volume of no ordinary beauty, and prove him to have been most fitted for such
an office.’
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historian began his great enterprise,? and in the Darlington and
Stockton Times of February 26th, 1848, declared his intentions as
follows:—

The desire expressed by many for the publication of the author’s recent
lecture on the fleeted days of Dariington has led him to believe that a work of
greater scope will be acceptable to its residents and to antiquaries at large.
The local naturalist will hail a category of the productions of its fields, its woods,
its waters ; and the student of statistics has long looked for a faithful picture of
the manufacture and trade supporting the prosperity of his earthly home.
Darlington, moreover, is now an important locality as the centre of several
railways. She numbers among her inhabitants a gentleman (Edward Pease,
Esq.), in the absence of whose energy and perseverance the present system of
locomotive enterprise would, in the ordinary course of human caleulations, have
been deferred for many years, and it is thought that a copious chapter devoted
to its first fruit, ¢The Stockton and Darlington Railway’® . . . . will be
found an interesting addition in every commercial library.

Part i., consisting of about one-fourth of the 'volume, was issued
within a few months ; part ii., extending into the third ehapter of the
ecclesiastical division, made its appearance towards the end of 1849;
the remaining parts were delayed from ' various causes, and it was not
until 1854 that the work was completed.

While part ii. of the history was slowly passing through the press,
Mr., afterwards Sir, John Bernard Burke, Ulster king at arms,
projected a new monthly magazine. The subjects to be treated in
this serial were heraldry, genealogy, biography, folk-lore, and matters
that belong rather to the by-paths than the beaten tracks of history.
Under the name of the St James’s Magazine, with Mr. Burke as
editor, the new venture made its appearance in the early part of 1849.
It lasted a couple of years, and among its contributors was Mr.
Longstaffe. His name is attached to a series of sketches, entitled

2 At the memorable meeting in the ¢ Sun Inn,’ Mr. Longstaffe was introduced
to a large and appreciative andience as the coming historian of Darlington.
The manner in which he treated his subject had a delightful effect. It was
shortly after this meeting that I made Mr. Longstaffe’s acquaintance, and on
May 20th, 1842, as is recorded in the journal of my dear father, Mr. John Ord,
of Newton Ketton, is an entry : ¢ Mr. Longstaffe here, seceing old coins.’ It was
a dreary wet Sunday, but a walk of five miles in the rain did not damp the
young man’s ardour. Such was the beginning of a staunch friendship extending
over the remaining twenty years of my father’s life, during which Mr. Longstaffe
was a frequent and always welcome visitor at Newton Ketton. Of those who
accompanied him on such occasions, I may mention his brother-in-law (Mr. J. T.
Abbott), Canon Greenwell, Canon Eade, and Mr. Henry Maddison.—Note by
Mr. J. R. Ord, Haughton Hall, who also kindly provided from his local collec-
tions a copy of the prospectus of the istory of Darlington,
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¢ Gatherings for a Garland of Bishoprick Blossoms,” sketches which,
it is not too much to say, exhibit remarkable ability, and disclose a
marvellons acquaintance with the traditions, legends, and superstitions
of the county palatine. They are not, the writer points out in a pre-
fatory note, ‘solemn history.” That must be sought in the splendid
folios of Surtees, or the careful quartos of Hutchinson. These papers
are ‘devoted to the lighter illustrations of private biography, and the
legends, proverbs, popular poetry, and heraldic curiosities of my native
county. The massive church, the ornate castle, the comfortable manor
house, the old fashioned farmstead, and rude cottage, the gliding
stream, its grassy leas, the golden fields, the soft woods, the rugged
rock, and sable pit; all will afford me matter. The soil of the pala-
tinate is drowned in story. We cannot move a mile without coming
on some new legend or association.’

The people of Darlington were proud of their youthful historian
and of his literary achievements. When the queen and royal family
made their first visit to the north of England in the antumn of that
year, 1849, who but he could prepare an address to the royal visitors ?
His father had taught him to draw, to sketch, and to emblazon, and
he had profited by the parental tunition. ‘It was beautifully
illuminated on vellum by Longstaffe the historian, a large paper copy
of part i. of whose work was also presented and accepted.” So writes
the author of a Memoir of Francis Mewburn. Longstaffe himself
describes the incident in a foot note to his history, thus :—¢ It was on
vellum in the fullest decoration of medieval art I could combine with
chastity of effect. In an initial letter hung the arms of England.
In the copy of my work presented I ingerted a blank page containing
a rich cross of foliage, which wreathed round four shields—1 and 4,
England ; 2, Scotland ; and 8, Ireland. * Humbly presented to her
most gracious majesty Queen Victoria upon the occasion of her first
royal progress through the county palatine of Durham by her most
dutiful subject, the author.””’

In the spring of 1850, being in indifferent health, Mr. Longstaffe
came to stay for a while with his father’s cousins, Mrs. Taylor of
Cleadon (widow of John Brough Taylor, F.8.A., a well-known local
collector and antiquary), and her brother, the rev. Edward James
Midgley, perpctual curate of Medomsley—recreating himself among
what he playfully calls ‘kind companions, rills, woods, hills, and—
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parish registers.” Under the title * Notes from Northumbria,’ he con-
tributed to the St. James’s Magazine a graphic account of his journeys.
First of all, he notes ‘the deep grace of the green fields and quiet
streams’ in spring time ; ‘the feathery, bursting, glowing appearance
of every thing in'its proud, young beauty ;" then, giving further flight
to his poetical fancy, he adds :—

Beautiful as our wild flowers are, they must be improved by horticulture,
and antiquaries must aid the progress. We must rise higher than to a charter
or painted escutcheon. We seek to raise architecture, and the more exquisite
the profile of the petal and the leaf, the more delighting will our sculpture be.
The winter style of our Norman ancestors was partially brushed up by massive .
fronds—the Early English had all the crispness of spring herself, with its wiry
stems, curled foliage and drooping blossoms . . . the Decorated at its birth
assumed such flowery lightness as charmed the eye and sunk into beds of roses
and ivy in wanton summer profusion ; while the last school of those powerful
designers of the middle ages, the Florid, with the cunning of antumn, clothed
its deformed leaves and nnnatural distortions with acres of rich brown sereen
and tabernacle and arched roofing work. All this may appear fanciful, but we
must spiritualize art, whether in forming or looking back. The Egyptian copied
his lotus and palm; the Greek adored his acanthus; the Jews repeated their
¢ pomegranates of blue, and of purple, and of scarlet,” their ‘bowls made like
unto almonds with a knop and a flower,” their ‘palm trees and open flowers,’ their
‘flowers of lilies’; and I would perpetuate all our fair favourites, be they rose,
or fern, or moss.

About Newecastle and its antiquaries he writes some appreciative
lines, as follows:—

The Neweastle people have their Literary and Philosophical Society, Natural
History Society, and Society of Antiquaries, . . . The last have, in all proper
taste, taken up their abode in the deserted keep. There they have their Roman
altars, their armour, and relics of all sorts ; there, in the great chamber, have
they cansed the banners and the pennons of the Fenwyke, Hylton, Percy, and
all the great houses of the North, onee more to float over fair foreheads and
devoted squires. The literati of the metropolis of the North have their own
peculiar style of literature. They love red lettering and creamy tracts. Their
most unimportant imprints are drochures. The Richardsons have carried this
taste to the extreme of couatry perfection, and in a private way sir Cuthbert
Sharp, John Trotter Brockett,and John Fenwick, have exercised no small influence
over the printers of their minutiac. . . . 1 spent the day in the company of John
Fenwick, esq., G. Bouchier Richardson, the young and ardent topogiapher of the
town, aud that ¢ vary moral of a man’—as Teasdale folks say—Mr. Robert White,
the Scottish minstrel of ballad fame. 1 was also introduced to Collingwood
Bruee, the learned discusser of the Roman Wall, whose book T long to dip into
. . . and John Bell, a wondrous collector of all things—hand-bills, ballads, and
MSS., good, bad, and indifferent; picked up in the street or sent from gentle
fingers; clean, dirty, and of neutral tint,
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Mr. John Fenwick, the Newcastle host of the Darlington historian
during these joyous wanderings, had been an old friend of the Long-
staffe family, and his remembrance of the father found expression in
hearty recognition of the budding genius of the son. He was at this
time one of the council, and, in after years, the treasurer of our society,
a leading solicitor, identified in many directions with the public life
of Newcastle. Among his colleagues on the council was Mr. William
Kell, town clerk of Gateshead. Shortly after the visit recorded above,
Mr. Kell needed assistance in the management of an increasing busi-
ness. Who could be better qualified to render it than one already.
versed in the routine of a lawyer’s office, with literary abilities and
antiquarian tastes to boot ? Before the summer of that eventful
s;;ring had run its course, Mr. Longstaffe had transferred his services
to Mr. Kell, and his residence to Gateshead.

Congenial as may have been his surroundings on the banks of the
Skerne, it cannot be doubted that the young antiquary found his
opportunities vastly increased by his settlement npon the shores of
the Tyne. Here was the society he had admired a few months
before ; here were the men who had made it famous-—Adamson and
Raine, Clayton and Bruce, Fenwick and White, Hodgson Hinde and
Sidney Gibson, Dr. Charlton and Bouchier Richardson. What would
not most of us give for an evening with these departed worthies,
assembled once more within these venerable walls that so often echoed
and re-echoed the sound of their voices ?

Mr. Longstaffe became a member of our society, as already
related, in November, 1850, very shortly after his removal. Two
months later—at the ordinary meeting of the society in January,
1851—he read a paper on ‘The San of the Plantagenet, the Crescent
of Percy, and the Star of Vere.” Then began a career of activity in
antiquarian pursuit and of contribution to antiquarian literature
which finds no parallel in local annals. No matter what the topic
might be—heraldry, numismatics, church architecture, local history
and biography, ancient land tenure, local muniments, folk-lore—
points relating to these and similar subjects that were curious,
abstruse, or obscure, received fresh elucidation from his vigorous and
facile pen. Thus we find him in that same year (1851) writing a
series of papers which, first appearing in the Gateshead Observer, were
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afterwards issued, with additions, under the title of Hylton Chaplets ;
next publishing an illustrated booklet on Martial Motfoes® in con-
tinuation of M. A. Denham’s ‘Slogans of the North of England’;
and thirdly, preparing and reading at the Mechanics’ Institute of
Gateshead two elaborate papers on ¢ Old Gateshead and its Associa-
tions.” During the following year he published an illustrated hand-
book— Richmondshire : Its Ancient Lords and Edifices: A Concise
Guide to the Locaiities of Interest to the Tourist and Antiquary ; with
Short Notices of Memorable Men; and prepared for the annual meeting
of the Archaeological Institute, held in Newcastle that year, the
exhaustive paper which appears in the Proceedings of the Institute,
on ‘Durham Before the Conquest.” By 1854 he had completed his
History of Darlington, delayed until then by superabundance of.
material, and the natural hesitation of the faithful historian to with-
hold so much that is useful and attractive from the expectant reader.
Whosoever glances through these books and papers, with their
elaboration of detail—the work of three years only—will appreciate
the diligence and admire the ardour of the writer.

When Mr. Longstaffe came to Newcastle a ‘burning question’
had arisen in our society: it related, as already explained in the
sketch of the late canon Raine, to the size and form in which the
society’s publications should be issued. The older men cherished the
unwieldy quarto, issued at long intervals, to which they had been
accustomed ; the younger ones wanted a handy octavo, frequently pub-
lished. For six years the question lingered in the lap of sentiment
through dread of change; then Mr. Longstaffe drove the wedge that
eventually broke down the opposition of the veterans, for he induced
the society to arrange with his friend, Mr. James Clephan, editor of
the Gateshead Observer, to-report the proceedings at their monthly
meetings, and with the proprietors of that paper to publish the reports
every month in the coveted octavo. That step achieved, the forward
movement became comparatively easy. One year’s experience of the
monthly reports converted the objectors, and in 1856 the derided
quarto was finally abandoned. )

% The introduction to this booklet is curious :—¢ Entereth W, Hylton, of the

Long Staffe, and striking at the flagstaffs of chevaliers and squires, museth on
their mottoes.’

t Arch. Ael. vol. xix, p, 127.
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While the question was burning, Mr. Longstaffe allowed none of
the papers which he had prepared for the society to appear. But as
soon as the change was effected he began to print abundantly. The
first volume of the new series contains six papers from his pen, and
volume two, at the commencement of which he was appointed editor,
comprises two of his contributions. It is not necessary to enumerate
them, nor to particularize those which follow. A reference to our
general index discloses a crowded column and a quarter of subject
headings attached to his name, ranging from a mere note of half a
dozen lines to a valuable paper like that upon the building in which
we are assembled, occupying nearly half a volume. Calculating
roughly, and excluding annual reports and business matters, his con-
tributions to our first nine volumes, in octavo, cover 660 pages, equal
to two volumes and a half. In none of them is quality sacrificed to
quantity. "There is not a paragraph or a foot note too much. In
reading them one is struck by the industry and acuteness in research
which they disclose, the painstaking accuracy of statement that is
evident in every line, and the style in which they are written—clear,
masculine, and direct—terse, pointed, and impressive.

Next to our own society, the organization which bears the name of
the great Durham historian, Surtees, held the highest place in Mr.
Longstaffe’s affections. He became a member of it in 1855, was
elected a vice-president in 1859, and so remained till his death.
Three of the society’s volumes were issned under his editorship, and
of two others he was part editor. The three for which he alone is
responsible are vol. 34, The Acts of the High Commission Court
within the Diocese of Durham (1857) ; vol. 41, Heraldic Visitation
of the Northern Counties, by Thomas Tonge, Norroy King of Arms
(1862); and vol. 50, in which he printed that most curious and
valuable manuscript, the Memoirs of the Life of Mr. Ambrose
Barnes (1866). The two in which his name is associated with those
of other editors are, vol. 37, a volume of Miscellanea (1860) ;
his contribution being Nathan Drake’s journal of the Sieges of
Pontefract Castle, and vol. 82, Euxtracts from the Halmole Court or
Manor Rolls of the Prior and Convent of Durham, A.D. 1296-1384
(1886). Another volume was anounced to be edited by him in colla-
boration with the rev. Dr. Greenwell, viz : ‘The Lords of the Soil of
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the County of Durham, from the earliest period to the Reformation,
comprising the descent of the estates, with engravings of seals, etc.’
But this, if begun, was never completed.

The books above quoted as bearing his name are, in themselves,
contributions to local history of great interest and utility ; but his
editing added enormously to their value. For upon nearly every page
are notes illustrating and expanding the text, with biographical and
genealogical detail in luxuriant abundance. Even these annotations,
copious as they are, do not exhaust his editorial resources. Hach
volume ig enriched by the addition of important documents pertinent
to the subject matter. Thus, to Zonge’s Visitation he appended what
had been known as ¢The Carr MS.,” being ¢ A Cathelogue of all the
Maiores and Sherifs of His Maiestie Towne and Covntye of
Newecastell-vpon-Tyne, with they’re Cotes of Armes’ efc., from 1432
to 1634, with a continuation to 1780. To the Memoirs of Ambrose
Barnes he added a voluminous appendix of evidences illustrative of the
history of religion in Newcastle and Gateshead between the Reformation
and the Revolution. Merit, in this case, accompanies chronology.
The Barnes Memoirs—last in order of date—is far away the best book
of the three. Indeed upon the subject to which it relates it is probably
the most important local work that has been issued in our generation.
North country historians, genealogists, bibliographers, and even
polemics, find it a happy hunting ground swarming with quarry.

Of the Architectural and Archaeological Society of Durham and
Northumberland, started in 1861, Mr. Longstaffe was a co-founder.
At their first meeting, held at Darlington on the 3rd of June in that
year, he read a valuable paper on ¢ Bishop Pudsey’s Buildings in the
Present County of Durham,’ in which he announced his discovery of
the name of Pudsey’s architect—Gulielmus Ingeniator. For some
years, sharing with Dr. Greenwell, the president, and the rev. J. F.
Hodgson the heat and burden of conductorship, he accompanied the
society on its periodical outings, and helped to describe the objects of
interest which the members went to see. Between 1869 and 1879, for
example, he read papers or gave vivd voce descriptions to his fellow
members at Lumley, Norham, Medomsley, Ebchester, Hylton castle,
Walworth, Thirsk, Hexham, Auckland palace, Sheriff Hutton, and
Durham castle. Some of the papers are printed in the society’s

VOL. XX. ‘2
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Transactions ; of the descriptions only remembrance remains. While
his health permitted he performed similar service for our society
whenever we rambled among places that he cared to visit. Upon these
occasions he was seen at his best—a real ‘guide, philosopher, and
friend.’

To the study of that interesting branch of archaeology which reads
history, biography, and the progress of the arts upon the faces of
coins and medals, Mr. Longstaffe devoted himself with considerable
success. He had a faculty of minute observation, and a soundness of
judgment which, applied to the workmanship of the old minters and
moneyers, enabled him to establish new definitions, and to shed upon
ancient controversies fresh light. His abilities, in this direction, are
exemplified in a series of articles which he contributed to the Numis-
matic Chronicle. The first of them (2nd series, vol. iii. p. 162),
entitled ‘Northern Evidence on the Short Cross Question,” deals with
the length of the cross which, during many successive reigns, appeared
on the reverse of English pennies. In the long cross pennies the arms
of the emblem reached to the verge of the coin and the name and place
of the moneyer around it were thus divided into four parts by the
arms of the cross, while in those which bore a short cross the inserip-
tion was continuous. Mr. Longstaffe showed, by comparison with coins
struck at Durham, that pennies stamped with the name ‘Henry’ only,
and no numerals (which had been ascribed to Henry III.), were not
only made in the reign of Henry II.,but also in the reigns of Richard I.
and John, of whose coinage no English examples, bearing the names
of those monarchs, have been found. The second and third papers
(2nd series, vols. vii. p. 21, and ix. p. 256) are headed, ‘On the
distinctions between the pennies of Henry IV., V., and VI Here
also, although no numerals follow the royal name, the writer, by
pointing out slight differences in mint marks, styles of portraits,
weights, etc., allocated to each king his own coins, and evolved order
out of chaos. In the fourth article (2nd series, vol. xi. p. 193) he
answers his title-question, ¢Did the kings between Edward I11. and
Henry VI. coin money at York on their own account’ in the
negative. All these articles, treating as they do of abstruse questions
of identity, were exceedingly valuable contributions to numismatology.

" In connexion with this subject it may be noted that two or three
of the papers which he read to our society relate to the same branch



HIS MENTAT: CHARACTERISTICS. 11

of study, and that his one special contribution to the Proceedings of
the Berwickshire Naturalists Club, of which body he wasg elected
a member in 1862, describes a ‘find of groats at Embleton in
Northumberland, ranging from Edward III. to Edward IV.’ Some
time before his death he had nearly finished a paper on the coinage
of Durham, founded on the work of Mark Noble,® but declining
health prevented its completion.

‘Whether life-long devotion to antiguarian pursuits has the effect of
modifying human form and feature may be questioned. Yet in the
very appearance of Mr. Longstaffe there was something, intangible and
unexplainable it is true, but still something which suggested the
antiquary, a man who lived in the past. His features seemed to be
moulded from the antique, and everything about him appeared to say
in Goldsmith’s phrase, ‘I love everything that’s old—old friends, old
times, old manners, old books, old wine,’ to which those who saw his
garden-plot at Gateshead might add, ‘old herbs likewise, and flowers
of ancient fame.” This love of everything that’s old was the one
absorbing passion of his life. It began, as we have seen in childhood,
grew with his growth, and attained its highest development ere he had
reached his prime. Blest with a vigorous understanding and a correct
judgment, he was able to grasp whatever of ancient lore came within
the range of hig knowledge, while his skill in assimilating it, his
dexterity in weaving scattered facts and figures into clear and con-
secutive narrative, were special gifts vouchsafed to few. His posses-
sion of these rare gifts led some of his friends to hope that he might
take up the pen that had fallen from the hands of Surtees, and
complete that magnificent work—the history of Durham. Among
the most hopeful of them was his early friend and patron, Mr. Robt.
Henry Allan, who, dying in October, 1879, bequeathed to him the
sum of £1,000, conditional upon his undertaking the task, and carry-
ing it to a successful issue. At the time Mr. Longstaffe was disposed
to fulfil the conditions, but upon consideration he deemed the bequest
inadequate and allowed the legacy to lapse. -

Outside of his historical and archaeological pursuits, Mr. Longstaffe
occupied a prominent position as a lawyer, and interested himself

5 Two Dissertations upon the Mints and Coins of the Episcopal-Palatine of
Durham. 4to. Birmingham, 1780.
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in various phases of public life. He came to Gateshead, as we have
seen, in the summer of 1850, as managing clerk with Mr. William
Kell, senior partner in the firm of Messrs. Kell & Apedaile, solicitors.
A few months afterwards, on the 4th of January, 1851, he was
articled to Mr. Kell, and in due course passed his examination and
was admitted to practice. While serving articles, he added to his
baptismal designations the name of his maternal ancestor, the poet
Dyer, and, having obtained the necessary leave from the Court of
Queen’s Bench, he signed the roll of attorneys in January, 1857, as
William Hylton Dyer Longstaffe. As soon as these formalities had
been completed, Mr. Apedaile retired, and Mr. Longstaffe taking his
place, carried on the business, under the style of Kell & TLongstaffe,
till the death of his friend and partner, in June, 1862, left it entirely
in his own hands.

Into the details of his professional career, this is neither the time
nor the place to enter. But it may be said of Mr. Longstaffe that he
was a sound lawyer, specially versed in ancient rights, customs, and
tenures, and often consulted about matters relating thereto. Upon
one very delicate and difficult question he concentrated his time and
attention for years. That was the claim of leaseholders under the
dean and chapter of Durham, who had been accustomed to obtain
leases for twenty-one years, renewable every seven years upon payment
of certain fines, but who, upon the transference of the church estates
to the Ecclesiastical Commissioners, were confronted by a refusal to
renew. Mr. Longstaffe, with others, contended that the estates had
been originally copyhold, and that the tenants were entitled to even
better security than twenty-one years’ leases. He fought this battle
with great enmergy and tenacity, and after a prolonged controversy
secured, or helped to secure, from the Eeclesiastical Commissioners,
at annual rentals based upon the old fines, leases for 999 years, the
equivalents, almost, of freeholds.

The public life of Mr. Longstaffe was chiefly official. For civic
honours he had no desire, and he cared as little for those of learned
societies, He did, for a time, use the initials of the London Society
of Antiquaries—F.S.A.—but no other. His public life, in so far as it
was not professional, was literary and philanthropic. Upon his
coming to Tyneside he joined the Gateshead Mechanics’ Institute, ab
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that tinie a flourishing institution, having for its leading spirits Mr.
William Hutt, the member for the borough, James Clephan, William
Kell, William Lockey Harle, George Crawshay, W. H. Brockett, and
James Guthrie, all of them men of mark, and earnest promoters of the
public welfare. Within a year he was elected a member of the
committee, and from 1864 to 1868, was one of the secretaries of the
institution. He sncceeded Mr. Kell as honorary secretary to Gateshead
Dispensary in 1862, and so continued till 1875. Twice he was chosen
rector’s warden at the Easter vestry meetings, and in 1865 he became
a member of the Gateshead ‘Four and Twenty,” an ancient body
with prescriptive rights and privileges, in the investigation and
elucidation of which, for the rest of his life, he took great interest.
Under the Local Government Act, 1858, he assisted in creating the
local boards of Felling and Hebburn, and was clerk of the former from
1868 to 1878, and of the latter from 1878 to 1875. Finally, during
the parliamentary elections of 1868 and 1874, he acted as agent in
Gateshead for the North Durham liberal candidates, and in the latter
year, and again in 1880, represented the interests of the present lord
Northbourne.

It has not been found practicable to include in this rambling
obituary a full list of Mr. Longstaffe’s contributions to local history.
Although most of his literary work is described, or its whereabouts
indicated, in the preceding paragraphs, there is a residuum, more or
less valuable, that eludes the search and defies enumeration. It is
known, for example, that he wrote many interesting articles on local
institutions for the Gateshead Observer. Sometimes a few copies were
separately printed from the Observer type for private distribution, but
the majority remains entombed in the files of that long defunct news-
paper. Occasionally, too, he issued in pamphlet form a paper which
had been prepared for our society, and not read—such as 7%e Old
Official Heraldry of Durham—or one that was read and not printed by
us, e.g., A4 Leaf from the Pilgrimage of Grace. Other pamphlets bear-
ing his name are reprints, or reprints with emendations, (1) from the
Archaeologia Aeliana, viz., The Old Heraldry of the Percies, and Some
Account of Francis Radeliffe, First Earl of Derwentwater ; (2) from
the History of Darlington, such as Parentalian Memoranda, which
contains the pedigrees of the Hyltons and other ancestral families ;
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(8) from a Worcestershire newspaper, a series of articles on churches,
etc., at Droitwich and Dodderhill ; and (4) a paper on Z%e Reading
Penny, apparently from the Numismatic Chronicle.

Mr. Longstaffe died, after a prolonged illness, on the 4th of
February, 1898. He had been unable to join our gatherings, or to
contribute to our literature, for nearly eight years. Few of us, indeed,
can remember him in the fulness of his intellectual activity, and to
some of our younger members he can be known only by repute. But
to us and to them—those who knew him, and those who knew him
not—he has left an example of earnest application in research, and of
generous promptitude in communicating results, which we may
profitably try to imitate. His work remains, his writings survive, and
over the door of our council chamber, the benevolence of his friends
and the skill of the artist help us to keep his memory ever green.

BENCH END, DARLINGTON CRURCH.
(From Longstaffe’s History of Darlington.)
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THE VILLIERS FAMILY AS GOVERNORS OF TYNEMOUTH
CASTLE AND OWNERS OF THE LIGHTHOUSE.
By HoraTiO A. ADAMSON.
[Read on the 30th March, 1898.]

In the paper which I read to the society in 1895 on ‘ Tynemouth
Castle after the Dissolution of the Monastery’ (Archaeologia Aeliana,
vol. xviii. page 61), I stated that the War office had, in the year
1828, furnished a list of the governors of Tynemouth castle and
Clifford’s fort. In the list were the following names :—

: Date of Appointment.

Sir Edward Villiers ... Unknown.

Col. Henry Villiers ... 20d February, 1702.
LIEUTENANT-GOVERNORS.

Henry Villiers - 7% May, 1713.

Henry Villiers o B 20t June, 1727.

Although the War office could not give the date of the appoint-
ment of sir Edward Villiers as governor of the castle, I was able, from
information in my possession, to fix the date as having taken place in
the year 1661, shortly after the restoration of king Charles the
second. Sir Edward Villiers was baptized at Richmond in 1620, and
during the Civil War he took an active part in the royalist cause.
He married lady Francis Howard, youngest daughter of the second
earl of Suffolk, and had issue—(1st) Edward, his heir, born in 1656,
who was created earl of Jersey in October, 1697 ; (2nd) Henry, born
in 1658, who was a colonel of a foot regiment, and succeeded his
father as governor of Tynemouth castle. In addition to the two sons,
there were six daughters.

While sir Edward Villiers was governor of the castle, England was
at war with Holland. In the Calendar of State Papers, there are
many interesting letters about Tynemouth castle. On the 1st of
July, 1667, colonel Edward Villiers wrote to secretary Williamson as
follows :—

} On 5th September, 1662, colonel Edward Villiers was presented with the
freedom of Newcastle (Brand).
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The Two Lords [Carlisle and Ogle] join happily in the service. One performs
the active part, as having a General’s experience in the Chatham expedition ;
the other a General’s interest in raising forces. Lord Ogle’s regiment has
rendezvoused at Killingworth Moor, and the number could have been easily
doubled, that being the best part of England for raising foot.

It is probable it was during the time sir Edward Villiers was
governor of Tynemouth castle that the governor’s house was built.
It stands to the westward of the lighthouse in the castle. Part of it
is used as a hospital for soldiers, and upon the ground floor are two
rooms used as a residence by one of the non-commissioned officers.
These rooms are panelled and are interesting links between the
present and the past of the castle. The governor’s house and the
lighthouse as they appeared in 1784 are shown in the illustration on
the opposite page.

A lighthouse in the castle has existed for a very long time.
‘Whether there was one in monastic days I have been unable to trace,
but it is very probable there was. In 1537, two years before the
dissolution of Tynemouth priory, the Trinity house of Newcastle
(then a religious guild) was granted by Henry VIIL. power to build
two towers on the north side of Le Shelys (North Shields) and to
maintain on each a good and steady light by night for the guidance
of passing ships. The earliest historical mention of the lighthouse in
Tynemouth castle is in 1608, when there was a warrant from king
James the first granting sir Allan Percy £40 a year in lien of the
profits from the lighthouse which had been received by his brother
the earl of Northumberland. I find no further mention of the light-
house in the castle until 1656, when there is a letter dated 15th
December in that year from captain John Topping, deputy-governor,
addressed to the parliament. In this letter he says :—

T have beene often aboute to acquaint y* hounors that here is one M=
Ffenwicke, widoe to the late Capt. Ffenwicke, who first kept Tinmouth Castle
against the Parlimint and upon Sir Thomas Riddell having commission from ye
late King to be Governor of this Castle, the Erle of Newcastle commanded the
fore-said Capt. Ffenwicke into his Army, who was slayne in Yorkshire, the
said widoe was turned out of this Castle by the Scots when they tooke it, and
the Sea Lightes which are kept upon a tower within this Castle every night
through ye yeare ware then taken from the said widoe and enjoyed by the
severall Governors (viz.) Col. George Ffenwicke had the profit of the said
Lightes and also Capt. Blunt for one year, fourpence of each ship that anchors
in the river he received, after which time the said widoe received the profit of
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Tue Governor's Housk aND THE LIGHTHOUSE IN TYNEMOUTH CASTLE IN 1784,

(From an old engraving by W, Byrne, published in 1784.)

VoL. XX, 3
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the said Lightes. Severall honest people in these partes have blamed me for
coﬁtinuing her to have the Lightes. Shee still remaining as Caveleerish and
malignant as ever. Therefore I desire to know y* Hounors pleasure about
premises, that if the said widoe have noe order from y* Hounors, be pleased to
return it into the sueksesive channell. I humbley crave y* answer and pardon

for this bouldness, and am
Yr Hounors very

humble servant,
Tinmouth Castle, Jo. TOPPING.
Dee. 15th, 1656.

Among the records of the Trinity house at Newcastle are several
important letters about the lighthouse in the castle. On the 10th
May, 1660, the Trinity house addressed a letter to the members of
parliament for Newcastle in the ¢ Healing Parliament,” in which they
complained of the insufficiency of the fire light in Tynemouth castle,
and stated that about Martinmas then last past, the stairs and passage
up to the light being fallen down, the governor of the castle since
that time had kept and placed a light, near the east end of the castle,
upon a piece of old stone work not above four or five yards high,
which was so low that it was imperceivable for the navigation, so that
there was a great necessity of having a new lighthouse. The Trinity
house asked that they might have the charge of the lighthouse, and
stated they had two other lights at North Sheeles, and they would be
at any necessary cost to build and provide a sufficient light and keep it
well and sufficiently for the service. Other letters were written by the
Trinity house, without any satisfactory result.

On the 80th of June, 1665, by virtue of letters patent under the
great seal, the lighthouse in the castle was granted to Edward Villiers,
esquire, his heirs and assigns. The letters patent recited that the king
(Charles the second) had been given to understand that there had been
a long and constant toll of fourpence per ship paid by his majesty’s
subjects and twelvepence by strangers and foreigners for the mainte-
nanee of a light house at Tinmouth, which being wholly decayed and
fallen down, another had been then lately rebuilt by Edward Villiers,
esquire, therein described to be lieutenant of the king’s castle of Tin-
mouth, at his own proper costs and charges, to the great benefit and
advantage of his majesty’s subjects and others trading to those parts.
And further recited, that the king had been informed that a late
contract had been made on behalf of the said Edward Villiers with
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divers masters of ships belonging to Newcastle, as also others trading
and coasting that way, whereby they had voluntarily submitted to
increase the said toll of fourpence to twelvepence, and to continue the
payment thereof for the perfecting the said work, which had cost one -
thousand pounds already. His majesty approving the said contract,
and for the encouragement of this necessary and useful work, of his
special grace, certain knowledge. and mere motion did for him, his
heirs and successors, give and grant unto the said Edward Villiers, his
heirs and assigns, the custody of the said lighthouse and the ground
and soil whereupon the same was situate, and all rights and powers,
that he and they should and might continue, renew and maintain the
said lighthouse, with lights to be continually burning therein in the
night season whereby the said ships might the better come to their
harbours and ports without peril.

By the same letters patent authority was given to the said Edward
Villiers .to demand, collect, have, and take the sum of twelve pence
for every ship belonging to any of the subjects of his majesty passing
by the said lighthouse and belonging or trading to the ports of New-
castle and Sunderland, and three shillings for every ship belonging to
any foreigner or stranger coming or passing by the said lighthonse.
For the privileges granted by the letters patent a rent of twenty
marks was reserved to the king, which was payable after the death of
sir Edward Villiers. Ample powers were conferred by the letters
patent for collecting the tolls granted.

In 1680, sir Edward Villiers (who in that year had been knighted),
petitioned the king and asked for an increased toll of a farthing per
ton on all foreign and strange ships coming to and passing the light-
house. The ground of his application was that the existing toll did
not pay the interest on the money he had expended in building the
lighthouse and the charges for keeping and maintaining it. The
Trinity house at Newcastle strongly opposed the suggested increased
exaction, and pointed out that a light equal to the one maintained by
sir Edward Villiers, for which he received twelve pence per ship, had
formerly been maintained at a charge of only four pence per ship.

Sir Edward Villiers died in 1689, and was buried in Westminster
abbey on the 2nd July in that year.

In the list of governors of Tynemouth castle, before alluded to, it
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is stated that colonel Henry Villiers was appointed governor of Tyne-
mouth castle on the 2nd of February, 1702. His father, sir Edward
Villiers, died, as before stated, in 1689. In 1685, colonel Henry
Villiers was living at Tynemouth castle, and on the 20th May, in that
year, a daughter was baptized in the parish church of Tynemouth.
The entry reads thus:—‘1685, May 20.—Mary, Da. of Capt. Henry
Villiers, Gov*. of Tyn. Castle, bap.’

I think it may be assumed that sir Edward Villiers had resigned
his appointment as governor of the castle, and that his son had
been appointed governor in his place. There are other entries of
baptisms of the children of col. Villiers, and on every occasion he is
described as governor of the castle. In the last baptism, in 1708, he
is described as the ¢ Honble. Col. Henry Villiers,” governor of the castle.
His only brother, Edward, had been created earl of Jersey in 1697.

In going over the Treasury papers some time ago, I discovered an
extraordinary charge of smuggling brought, in 1706, against colonel
Henry Villiers, governor of Tynemouth castle. These papers are
described 'as ‘a State of the proceedings att Law agt Col'! Henry
Villiers, Governor of Tin-mouth Castle,” and contain the following
information : —

On the first of January last an Informa’con was exhi’ted agt him in ye Court
of Excheqt by way of Devener? for the value of a great Quantity of Wyne
Brandy Pepper Lynnen some Doe Skynns & two Scotch pladds w! came to
Tryall the Sitting after the last Terme when her Ma® had a verdict for
£536:16:0. The proofe upon the Tryall was in substance as follows: viz®
Thomas fforest who was formerly the Coll* Servt deposed that in June last
Capt. Gourdon Com’ander of a Scotch shipp of warr arrivid nere Tynmouth
Barr from whence was taken on shore in the night by y° direc’on of the Coll’s
Lady 5 Casks of Brandy & 4 hhds of Clarrett Wyne which were Landed att a
place called the Sally port & carry’d from hence to y° Coll® Coach horses to his
own Cellar in ye ffort.

That in July was taken out of ye same shipp in ye night tyme 8 Caskes of
Brandy six hhds of Clarrett six dozen Bottles of White Wyne 10 Bagges of
Pepper 8 Casks of Scotch Diaper Lynnen one pack of Doe Skinns and two
Scotch Plades, all which were landed att ye same place in the same manner as
the fformer. The Collinell’s Lady receiving the goods & paid to each of her

owne Serv'* for their trouble Eighteene pence & to others whoe were not her
Serv®® two shillings a peece.

2The only writ I have been able to discover is that of devemerunt, an
obsolete one, which was directed to the escheator on the death of the heir
of the king’s tenant under age and in custody, commanding the escheator to
enquire what lands and tenements, by the death of the tenant, came to the king.
It does not appear to have any application to thc present case,
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David Scotland who is a Gunner in the ffort deposed that hee had a Boat of
his own and that he brought on shore part of y° goods Landed the last night.
Upon this evidence the Jury withdrew for about a Quarter of an hour and then
brought in a verdict for her Ma® as aforesaid.

G. Medealf.

Custo : h° Lond: 17t" June 1706,

In addition to the foregoing document, there is the following pre-

sentment :—

Custome house, To the Rt Honble 8idney Lord Godolphin
London, Lord High Trea'’r of England.
18 June, 1706. Presentment

By the Comm™ for Manageing and Causing
to be Leavied and Collected Her Matics
Customs, &c.
The Comm™ having proceeded to Tryall the Sitting after last terme. On the
Information of Thomas Forrest Inclosed to them by his Lord?® direc’ons in M*
Lowndes’s Letter of the 12" of January last against Col' Henry Villiers Govern®
of Tinmouth Castle. For Winc and other Goods run by him out of a Scotch
ship of warr and obtained a verdict against him for Five hundred thirty & six
pounds sixteen shillings the value of the said Goods, as is more particularly
contained in a Memorial from their Solicitors Assistant they think themselves
oblig’d Humbly to Lay the same before his Lord? For his Lordr® Information.
T. Hall.
Sam Clarke,
T. Newport.
Will Culleford.
Jo Werden.
W. Dudley.
(Endorsed) Presentm® 18" June, 1706
Touching the verdict agt Col' Villiers
Goverr of Tinmouth Castle.
read 224 July 1706.
There is another document ; but it contains much the same inform-

ation as is contained in the two papers I have set out, with the addition
that the Seotch ship of war was called ¢ The Royal Mary.” I have been
unable to trace whether the whole fine was paid, or a portion of it
remitted.

Colonel Villiers took part in the proceedings of the vestry of Tyne-
mouth church. To the minutes of a meeting, held on the 80th March,
1703, his name is appended, and is followed by that of the vicar. In
1705, his name appears at the head of the list of the gentlemen of
the Four-and-twenty. In the month of August, 1707, he died, and
was buried in the priory burial ground. In a small History of
Tynemouth : the Castle and Priory, with an account of their Possessors,
and the Reduction of the Monaslery to a Fortress, published at North
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Shields in 1804, it is said there is a stone with the following inscrip-
tion upon it :—
Hic sitae sunt mortales reliquiae
Henrici Villiers, armigeri,
Stirpe antiqua prognati
uniei
Honoratissimi Comitis de Jersey
fratris,
Nec non hujus presidii
circiter 20 Annos
Fidelis et perquam dilecti
Praefecti
Vixit Annos 49. Obiit 11 Aug. ?
Anno domini 1707.

This stone I have not been able to discover. It is possible the
hand of time has pressed heavily upon it, and that the ingcription is
now quite obliterated. It is clear, from the inscription, that colonel
Villiers could not have been appointed governor of the castle in 1702,
as stated in the letter from the War office. “His official appointment
may have dated from 1687, and the actual appointment from 1685.

On, or shortly before, the death of colonel Villiers, Thomas Meredith
was appointed governor of the castle. The son of colonel Villiers was
appointed lientenant-governor of the castle on the 7th May, 1713.4

Among the Treasury papers is a memorandum that there was
granted, in 1708, to the widow and children of colonel Henry Villiers
(late governor of Tinmouth castle) a pension of £800, which was
vested in the earl of Jersey. The widow afterwards, with her youngest
son, had £100 of it apart, and it is stated she was dead, and it
was hoped the £100 might be again joined to the £200 and vested
in the countess of Orkney for the children’s use. In September,
1721, there is a petition from Henry Villiers to the lords of the
Treasury, in which it is stated a year and three-quarters was due upon
the king’s bounty of £100 a year, that he had nothing else to depend
on, and by the death of his brother, the earl of Jersey, and the growing
charges of his education at the university, he was put to great distress,
and prays for the arrears. It is minuted on the 12th September,
1721, that the arrears were to be paid to him.

3 In Brand’s History of Newcastle (vol. ii. p. 122) the inscription on the
tombstone is given, and the date of the death is stated to be the 18th August,
which is probably corrcct, as the burial was on the 22nd August.

4 The appointment of Henry Villiers in 1727 was probably a reappointment,
in consequence of the death of the king in that year,
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Henry Villiers, the grandson of sir Edward Villiers, who was
appointed lieutenant-governor of Tynemouth castle, married, firstly,
Arabella, daughter of John Rossiter, esquire, of Somerby, in the
county of Lincoln, and secondly, Mary, sister of lieutenant-general
Thomas Fowke.

In 1728, Henry Villiers made an attempt to obtain an additional toll
of one penny per chaldron towards the erection of a new light at Tyne-
mouth. This was opposed by the owners and masters of ships, and the
toll was not imposed. In July, 1747, a release was granted by him to
the Trinity house at Newcastle of all dues collected at Newcastle for his
lighthouse, reserving to himself a return of one moiety of the net sum
collected. On the 29th May, 1753—the anniversary of the restoration
of the king, by whom his family had been enriched-—Henry Villiers
died. His widow by her will, dated 22nd October, 1766, devised the
lighthouse to her brother admiral Thorpe Fowke, Charles Palmer, and
William Leigh ; it was described in her will as ‘all that her freehold
Estate at Tinmouth Castle called Tinmouth Great Lights,’ to hold the
same subject to the payment of an annuity of £40 to Catherine
Craster, widow, for life, in trust to receive the rents and profits until
her godson William Fowke, then an infant of eleven years, should
attain the age of twenty-one years, keeping the lights in good repair,
sufficiently supplied with coals. After giving various directions as to
the lights, she directed that none of the gentlemen, her then collectors,
should be displaced, and from and immediately after the said William
Fowke should have attained to his said age, then to his use for his
natural life, with limitations over in tail as mentioned in the will,
which are too numerous to mention. She died 7th January, 1767.
William Fowke attained twenty-one on 26th November, 1775, and
became seised of the lighthouse.

In 1802, George Fowke, of Tamerton, in the county of Devon, a
captain in the royal navy, was tenant in tail male in remainder
expectant on the estate for life of his uncle, William Fowke.

At this time the lighthouse was lighted, as it had always been,
with a coal light. It was then agreed with the Trinity house of New-
castle, and a great number of merchants, traders, owners and masters
of ships, and others, that a portion of the lighthouse should be taken
down and altered, and a copper lighthouse lantern and an oil light
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substituted, with a revolving machine having patent lamps and highly
polished silver-plated reflectors. It was estimated that these altera-
tions and improvements would cost £2,500; and to reimburse the
owners of the lighthouse for this cost, parliament, by an act passed
4th May, 1802, granted certain dues, mentioned in the act, and power
was conferred on the Trinity house of Newcastle-upon-Tyne to inspect
the lighthouse, to see whether it was maintained and conducted in a
due and sufficient manner. In 1836, an act was passed for vesting
lighthouses, lights, and sea marks on the coast of England in the cor-
poration of the Trinity house of Deptford Strond, and among these
lighthouses was that at Tynemouth. Under this act the Trinity house
purchased the lighthouse in the year 1840 of the Fowke family.
The family showed that the net annual profit of the lighthouse was
£5,305 9s. 8d., which, at twenty-three and a-half years’ purchase,
amounted to £124,678 17s. 2d., and this very large sum the Trinity
house paid for the purchase of the lighthouse, which then passed into
their hands, and the connexion of the family of Villiers and their
descendants with the lighthouse ceased. For 175 years they had
enjoyed the benefit of the royal benefaction granted in 1665.

From 1840 the lighthouse pursucd the even tenor of its way until
1871, when Souter Point lighthouse was lighted on the 11th January
for the first time, and T'ynemouth was changed from a bright white lighs
to a red one. In making this change there was a waste in light in the
proportion of twenty-one to nine, but by increasing the power from
nine to twenty-one both the old and new lights were visible at the same
distance. In 1887 the lighthouse was terribly shattered by the firing
in the castle of twenty-three ton guns, brought from Woolwich. It
has never recovered the shock. The lighthouse-keepers’ houses have
been removed, and the lighthouse stands, with the ruins of the priory,
the connecting link between the present and the past. For mearly
800 years, or it may be a much longer period, its beneficent light has
been shed along our coast, but the days of the lighthouse are numbered.
Upon the little island of St. Mary, which stands midway between the
Tyne and the Blyth, where, in early days, stood a cell belonging to
Tynemouth priory, a lighthouse has been erected, which, in a short
time, will give forth its light, as tradition says it did in the monastic
days but in a humbler way. When this has been accomplished, Tyne-
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mouth lighthouse, and probably the governor’s house, with which it is
intimately linked, will be removed, and one more change will have
taken place in the well-known and cherished features of Tynemouth.

APPENDIX.

As a desire has been expressed that I should show the connexion
of the Villiers family, who were governors of the castle, with George
Villiers, first duke of Buckingham, this I shall now do.

. Sir George Villiers, knight, of Brokesby, in Leicestershire, by his
first wife had issne—

(1) William (sir), created a baronet in 1619 ;

(2) Edward ;

And also three daughters.

He married, secondly, Mary, daughter of Anthony Beaumont, esquire,
of Glenfield, county of Leicester. By her he had issue—

(1) John, created viscount Purbeck ;

(2) Georye, created duke of Buckingham ;

(8) Christopher, created ear]l of Anglesey ;

(4) Susan, married to the first earl of Denbigh.

Sir Edward Villiers (before mentioned) married Barbara, eldest
daughter of sir Oliver St. John of Tregoze, co. Wilts, and by her he
had five sons and three daughters :—

(1) William, second viscount Grandison, who left an only daughter

Barbara ;

(2) John, third viscount Grandison ;

(8) George, fourth viscount Grandison ;

(4) Christopher, who died young ;

(b) EBdward, who was born 15th April, 1620, was knighted by
Charles the second on 7th April, 1680. He was appointed
governor of Tynemouth castle in 1661. He was nephew by
the half-blood to George Villiers, first duke of Buckingham,
and uncle to Barbara Villiers, who is spoken of as the
‘splendid termagant,” and was one of the mistresses of
Charles the second. She was created countess of Castle-
maine in 1661, and duchess of Cleveland in 1670. It was
probably owing to her connexion with the royal family that
the lighthouse at Tynemouth was made over to her uncle,
sir Edward Villiers.
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George Villiers, first duke of Buckingham, was born at his father’s
seat 20th August, 1592. He was brought under the notice of king
James the first, was knighted, raised to the peerage as viscount Villiers
in 1616, and became earl of Buckingham and afterwards marquis.
He went to Spain with the king’s son Charles to prosecute his suit,
which was unsuccessful. He was made duke of Buckingham and lord
warden of the Cinque Ports, and negotiated the marriage of Charles
with Henrietta Maria of France, and after a most eventful and
extraordinary career, was assassinated on the 28rd of August, 1628,
at Portsmouth by John Felton, who was hanged for the crime at
Tyburn. His son, the second duke of Buckingham, was educated with
the children of Charles the first, and in later years took part in the
royalist cause, fought under the royal standard, and, like many others,
suffered for his loyalty to the house of Stuart. He married the
daughter of lord Fairfax, to whom his forfeited estates had been
granted. At the Restoration his estates were restored to him, he was
brought back to court, and after a career of the wildest description,
he retired to his estates at Helmsley, in Yorkshire, and died on 16th
April, 1688, at Kirkby Moorside, ‘in the woist inn’s worst room.’
He was the author of several comedies.
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III.-.THE CHURCH OF AUCKLAND ST. ANDREW (OR
NORTH AUCKLAND), COMMONLY CALLED SOUTH
CHURCH.

By the Rev. J. F. HopasoN, M.A., vicar of Witton-le-Wear.
[Read on the 15th December, 1897.]
I.—Or THE NAME AND ORIGIN OF THE PLACE.

Though doubtless of very considerable antiquity, the origin of the
Ancklands is quite nncertain. But that it stretches back to a period
as remote as that of the neighbouring Roman station at Binchester, as
some have supposed, there is simply nothing, I think, either to show
or to suggest. As to the original place-name, which might go far
towards settling the point, we are, I regret to say, not only still, but
likely to continue, in complete ignorance. Indeed the only thing
certain about the present form of it seems to be that it has been
gradually developed from one, the meaning of which had in process
of time ceased to be intelligible, into another which, in some measure,
was s0.! What the original form of it was, however, is apparently lost

! That this was the case, not only long previous to, but during Leland’s time,
he leaves us in no doubt, and his account of the places bearing the name and their
then pronunciation are of considerable interest (Z¢in. vol i.pp. 72 and 74) :—

‘¥From Darlington to Acheland,’ says he, ‘8 good Miles by resonable good
Corne and Pasture.

‘A Mile a this side Akeland Castelle I cam over a Bridg of one great Arch on
Gaundelesse, a Praty Ryver rising a vj. Miles of by West ; and renning by the
South side of Akeland Castelle goith a litle beneth it to the great streame of
Were.

¢ Gaundeles rising by West cumming by Westakeland, by S. Helenes
Akeland, by S. Andreas Akeland, and by Biskop Akelande.

‘ The Towne self of Akeland is of no Estimation, yet is ther a praty Market of
Corne.

¢It standith on a praty hille bytween 2. Ryvers, wherof Were lyith on the
North side, and Gaundlesse on the South, and a narow (sic) shot or more benethe
they meete and make one Streame, and ren to the Este, and ech of these Rivers
hath an Hille by it. So that Bishops Castelle Akeland standith on a litle
Hille bytwixt 2. great.

< There was of very auncient a Manor Place logging to the Bisshop of Duresme
at Akeland.

‘ H.'erédz;lc.ly.ing' as Pece of the West Marches of the Bisshoprick toward
Westmeriand is well wooddid : and so be the Quarters of Akeland : for by the
Name it apperith to have been ful of Okes.’

VOL. XX, 4
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irrecoverably. The highest living authorities I have been able to
consult agree perfectly in two particulars—the extreme difficulty
surronnding the case, and their inability to solve it. In the earliest
documentary evidence we possess the name is written Alclit. But to
what tongue or people does it point, Saxon or Celtic, and what is
the meaning to be attached to it 2 Well, those are precisely the points
which are both indeterminate, and, as should seem, indeterminable ;
for while Teutonic scholars of such standing as canons J. C. Atkinson
and Isaac Taylor of York are inclined to think it is nof Teutonic, but
pre-Teutonic," ¢.e. Celtic or Cymric, Professor Rhys, the highest
authority on Celtic literature, inclines equally to think that it probably
is Teutonic, <.e. * English, in some form or other.’ In this very
unsatisfactory and hopeless state, therefore, we must be content, I fear,
to leave the question ; one which, nevertheless, I had greatly hoped to
be able to settle, but which, however interesting, has fortunately no
direct bearing upon our subject.

From uncertain, and more or less pre-historic, we must needs, then,
pass on to certain, and historic, times. The step, it is true, is a long
one, for our earliest documentary evidences date only from the tenth
century, when, as Symeon tells us, Alclit ij—the two Aucklands—were
included in those many territories of the see which bishop Ealdhun
and the congregation of 8. Cuthbert gave in pledge to ¢ Ethred eorle,
and Northman eorle, and Uhtred eorle,” in time of necessity, and of
which many were never recovered by the church. Nor is the period of
the first ecclesiastical foundation much more clearly ascertained. That
it existed anterior to the Conquest, however, is proved abundantly by
several exceptionally interesting remains of Anglo-Saxon or ¢ Anglian’
sculpture still existing on the spot. Of these, the earliest structural
evidences, we will therefore, in the first place, take account.

II.—~ANGLO-SAXON RELICS.

As usual, these remains consist of portions of grave-crosses, most
of which came to light during the ‘restoration’ of 1881. The two
principal ones have formed parts of shafts, to the head, or upper part
of one of which a third small fragment enriched with pellets and
foliage has probably once belonged ; and two square grave-stones—
one nearly perfect—ornamented with flat and shallow strip-work.
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Of these, the first and bulkiest (plate I1.) has formed the
socketed base of a very stout and massive structure. It has a total
height of three feet four inches ; the sloping panel occupying two feet,
and the vertical plain part beneath, one foot four inches, with a
breadth of two feet seven and a half inches, and a present thickness
from back to front of tem and a half inches; but as the stone has
been split in two from side to side, its original thickness must have been
about a foot and a half.2 The edges, which have a flat surface of one
and a half inches, are left square, with a narrow roll moulding inside
forming the panels.

The subject of the front, or principal one, displays three three-
quarter length nimbed figures. Of these, the central one, which is
shown full-face, has the features worn nearly smooth. The ears are
prominent, while all traces of the hair, which may once, perhaps, have
appeared, are gone. The right hand is raised in benediction, and the
left, which is not visible, holds what is most probably meant for a
book, though the lines of the drapery give it quite the appearance of
the square head of an upright cross.

The figure to the right (spectator’s left) has the right arm and
hand extended across the body towards the central one, on whose right
shoulder the fingers rest. Here, again, the features are almost gone,
but the face is turned towards the centre figure, and the hair is shown
in stiff, round curls, like little balls, about the head. The left-hand
figure, which is much the same as that to the right, has the left hand
extended in the like fashion, the fingers resting upon the left shoulder.

The right-hand cdge-panel has once shown another nimbed figure
of the same size as those in front, but it is now split off through the
centre vertically. The corresponding panel to the left has also had a
large nimbed figure with stiff curled hair, accompanied, apparently, by
a second one, part of whose head is just visible. This large fragment,
besides having been split in two from side to side as stated, has also

?Compare this breadth of two feet seven and a half inehes with that of
the famous Gosforth eross—fourteen and a half feet high—which, though -
cylindrical, is only one foot, one and a third inches thick at the base, and but six
inehes, by five inehes, at the top, immediately beneath the eross. It is probably
the slenderest of all crosses either remaining entire, or of which we possess frag-
nients, Sometimes the shafts are found of square, or nearly square section,
instead of oblong, as at Leeds, Raistric, Neverne, etc. ; but they varied, as need
hardly be said, both in size and proportion, as infinitcly as in detail and artistic
merit,
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been broken in half from top to bottom ; and, not only so, but has
had the whole of the lower, or uncarved, portion towards the left
knocked off bodily.

‘What the particular subject intended to be set forth in this panel
may be there are no details sufficiently conclusive now left to
show. That the central figure is the chief one, to whom the
others are bearing witness is, however, perfectly clear, and it may
therefore, pretty certainly, be taken to represent our Lord. But the
‘scene itself—whether, as, perhaps, not unlikely that of the Trans-
figuration, with Moses and Elias, ‘the Law and the Prophets,’
testifying to Him, or not—remains mere matter of conjecture.
The one certain point is the grace and dignity of the figures,
which, their thick and massive draperies notwithstanding, is very
striking. :

Then comes a small fragment abont eleven
inches broad, by ten high, and about eight
thick, with cable moulded edges towards the
front, but which, being split in two like the
other, is consequently without a correspond-
ing face behind. It displays a piece of bold
and well-cut scroll work, together with the
feet, lower parts of the legs, and bottom of the tunic of a man
ascending it. Another, and rather larger, fragment shows the two
feet and lower part of the legs of a
second fignre also apparently ascend-
ing, though the tree, or scroll-work, in
connection with it has been destroyed.
The next page shews one of the head-
stones displaying an upright cross in
relief, and measuring two feet six and
a half inches in height, by one foot
eight and a half inches in breadth.
This was a far from uncommon form of memorlal falling as it did
well within the reach of the many to whom the cost of the detached
monumental crosses would be prohibitive. Another, but very small
local example of this class of grave-stones remains perfectly preserved
in the adjoining parish of Escomb, and yet another, and larger one,
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at Gainford. Though much ‘weathered and worn down, it is, never-
theless, an interesting illustration of this once, doubtless, very numerous
class of monuments.

We come now, at last, to by far the finest of these fragments.
This is, fortunately, on the whole, wonderfully well preserved. It
measures three feet three inches in height, by, if perfect, one foot
four inches in breadth at the bottom, but one foot two inches at
the top; and one foot and ten inches in depth correspondingly
from back to front. As the illustration (plate III, @) shows, it has
on its chief face two nearly perfect
panels, edged vertically and hori-
zontally with cable, and roll,
mouldings. The arched upper
panel contains two three-quarter
length nimbed and winged figures
habited in stiff, but gracefully dis-
posed vestments : the one with the
right, the other with the left, hand
extended on the breast. That to
the right, whose hair is arranged in
stiff curls, as in those on the other
stone, carries no emblem, and has
the hand unoccupied. The left-
hand figure is differently treated,
with the hair flat towards the
middle, but breaking out into curls
at the side about the ear. The
special distinction, however, is that in the left hand he holds a slender
sceptre, tipped with three balls. What part of the entire shaft we have
in this fragment cannot, perhaps, certainly be said. But as the breadth
of the shaft at the top of the panel seems far too great for it to have
formed the summit, its position was, probably, a more or less central,
or lower central, one. However this may be, interest undoubtedly
centres in the subject of the lower panel. What that subject exactly
is, may, no doubt, be open to question, seeing that from the un-
accustomed treatment it is, at first sight, far from self-evident.

It will be seen to have consisted, when perfect, for the lower part
is now wanting, of three, probably, full length figures, each having a
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nimbus, and with the central one standing out in advance of the other
two, which are evidently inferior to, and attendant on, it. The two
subsidiary figures are clearly those of either saints or angels: the
central one, just as clearly, that of our Lord. At the bottom of the
right-hand figure, nearly the whole of which is now broken away, may
be seen part of the head, and upper portions of the wings, of an angel.
It is not a little unfortunate that ithe greater part of the left-hand
figure should have been flaked off by the blow which has destroyed
the lower part of the edge mouldings ; and for this reason, that the
limb or tablet, which there can be no doubt once occupied a corre-
sponding position to that still remaining on the “right, is no longer
visible.- Had it but been so, then the meaning of the sculpture would
have been at once suggested, to say the least, even to the most
unimaginative. In striking contrast to that of all the rest, the attitude
of the nobly conceived and impressive central figure, as cannot fail
to be observed. is one of severe and rigorous constraint. The feet
and lower parts being broken off, their treatment cannot now, of
course, be known. But the upper parts leave little room for doubt
as to what that treatment must have been. Behind and above the
nimbus encircling the head is seen, in relief, a rectangular limb or
tablet ; at the right hand side, and on a line with the arms, another
similar, but slightly longer one, against both of which the Lord’s head
and body are shown as being firmly fixed. Singularly enough, no
arms, or portions of arms even, are shown ; but the arm holes of the
upper robe, which are of large size, and bordered so as to prevent
tearing, are strongly emphasized. Straight through the right-hand
one, the limb, or elongated tablet, passes onward behind the back,
against which it presses tightly. Now, it needs only to restore in the
mind’s eye the destroyed, but once, certainly, corresponding, limb or
tablet on the left hand, to see at a glance how exactly the three would
represent the three npper extremities of the cross, to which the body
of the Lord is so evidently attached. The arms, which the exigencies
of space forbade being shown in the customary way, must, of course,
be regarded as being drawn tightly back, so as to allow of the hands
being nailed to the central stem,® the top of which bears the syllable,

2 Though the restrictions of space necessitated the peculiar disposition of the

arms of our Lord on the eross shaft above deseribed, such an arrangement is,
nevertheless, not unknown to art where no such restrictions existed. In the
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¢Pas.,” an abbreviation for ¢ Passus Esr,” showing how He ‘suffered
under Pontius Pilate.” If, indeed, the actual scene of the crucifixion
be not deliberately intended to be set forth, as would certainly seem
to be most probable ; the fact must, at any rate, be very distinctly
referred to, and that in a far more direct and expressive way than by
the conventional cruciferous nimbus.*

‘What the inscription upon the right-hand tablet, or cross limb has
been, is somewhat difficult to determine, as the first letters have been

famous picture of the Crucifixion, by Antonello da Messina, in the museum at
Antwerp, painted in A.D. 1445, while the Lord’s figure is extended upon a lofty
cross of squared wood, those of the two thieves are suspended on two young trees
or saplings. That to the left, though somewhat sinuous, is nearly straight, and
has all its branches lopped off. To it the writhing body of the impenitent male-
factor isshown attached, with ouc foot nailed to the stem, the other being either
free, or fastened to it higher up. His arms are stretched high above his head,
and the hands, which are bound tightly together at the wrists, fastened firmly
to the very top. The treatment of the penitent thief to the right is slightly
varied. Here the upper part of the stem of the tree inclines outwardly, away
from the Lord, towards whom the gaze of the penitent has been directed. The
chained legs are secured to the extremity of a projecting branch, while the arms,
drawn forcibly back, like those of our Lord in the cross shaft, are tightly tied
together above the elbows ; and in that position, behind the back, made fast to
the upper portion of the stem. The treatment of the arms, in fact, is seen to be
absolutely identical with that suggested in the sculpture.

An excellent account of this picture, beautifully illustrated, may be seen in
Crowe and Cavalcaselle’s Early Flemish Painters, pp. 215-17.

4 In the famous Baldr-Odin crucifixion panel of the Gosforth cross, no cross
at all is shown: the out-turned feet rest on the cable-moulding forming the
panel, which the horizontally outstretched arms and hands also either touch
or grasp. Again, on a gravestone at Kirk Michael, in the Isle of Man, on which
an imitative upright monolithic cross, ornamented with strip work, appears in
relief, the figure of the Lord, which occupics only about as much space in the
centre as a boss would do, is shown with the feet similarly turned out, as are
also the arms beyond the elbows, but unattached to any proper cross of its own,
or that could be supposed to belong to it, the attitude only being suggestive of
the actual crucifixion. -

On another upright grave-stone, in the Calf of Man, more realistic, but still
highly idealized, is seen another crucifixion scene. In this case, though the
cross does indeed appear, it is not only disproportionately broad and flat—a
cruciform backing rather than a cross—but of barely sufficient size to fit the
figure, which, though attached to it by nails through hands and feet, evinces no
sign of suffering. On the coutrary, it is fully vested in excessively rich apparel,
covered with embroidery, which reaches down to the feet,and wears, altogether,
an expression of serene majesty. In short, the Lord isshown, ‘reigning from the
tree.’

On one of the chapter house stones at Durham, we have the fact referred to
in a purely symbolical way, the central space of the head being occupied, not,
ag was commonly the case afterwards, by a lamb bearing a cross tipped banner
(lamb and flag), but by a lamb passing in front of an upright stone cross fixed
in a square base. And the same subject is repeated on the reverse side of
another of those crosses; but the obverse, where the actual scene is shown,
instead of dispensing with the arms altogether as here, at Auckland, shows
them of most exaggerated length, each one nearly equalling that of the entire
body from head to feet. But then, the work is of the feeblest and most
miserable character throughout. (See illustrations in the Zransactions of the
Dur. and Northd. Architect. Socy., vol. iv.)
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flaked off. The remaining four, however, read either RIEL or NIEL.
If the former, then it would seem to point to Gabriel ; but for this,
it will be noted, there is not sufficient room, at least without some sort
of contraction. The latter would therefore seem to be the more
probable reading ; and this for more reasons than one. In the first
place, the letters could all be easily got in; in the second, Daniel
would stand as a universally accepted type of the resurrection, and of
the Lord’s trinmph over death ; and, in the third, there would be a
sufficient explanation of the absence of wings, which, as will be seen,
occur not only in the case of the two angels shown above, but in that
of the one below as.well.

Should this right-hand attendant be really intended for Daniel,
then that to the left would doubtless be of similar import, and
represent, probably, either Isaac or Jonas, the one as having been
directly referred to in this connection by S. Paul, the other, by our
Lord Himself. Left, as we are, entirely to conjecture in the matter,
however, the remains of the figure should perhaps be more safely
regarded as those of the Prince than of the Prophet. Scenes from the
lives of both Daniel and Isaac are, it may be added, depicted npon one
of the faces of the cross at Castledermot, co. Kildare, where Daniel is
shown in the midst of four lions in the panel immediately above the
base ; while the sacrifice of Isaac is displayed in a precisely similar
position to that occupied by the destroyed figure here—the left hand
of our Lord.

The mutilated nimbed figures on the other side of the shaft (see
plate ITI. ) have no distinguishing emblems—unless, indeed, that to
the left be holding, as is possible, the handles of two mutilated keys,
in which case we should have the effigies of SS. Peter and Paul—and
therefore call for no remark ; their chief, indeed only, claim to notice
being that they show both faces of the cross—instead of having the
usnal allowance of fantastic, mythological monster, and ribbon work—
to have been occupied, exclusively, with large-sized scriptural person-
ages and incidents, in bold relief.

But more remarkable and noteworthy, perhaps, than the figure
subjects, including the probably unique crucifixion scene, is the scroll
work which decorates the narrow, or edge, sides of this cross shaft (see
plate IV. a and 4). For beauty and freedom of design, for depth of
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undercutting, for force of drawing, and intense vitality of movement
and expression, they are probably quite nnequalled.

Apart from artistic qualities, however, there are two points to be
noted. First, the upper parts of the figure of an archer (plate IV. «),
whose body and lower limbs have been broken off; and the birds and
beasts, which, turning to left and right alterﬁately and devouring the
fruit which terminates each branch, fill all the upper portions of the
scroll. At these, with bent bow and adjusted arrow, the archer takes
careful aim. The meaning of divers similar presentments which, else-
where, occur profusely, has been variously interpreted. Some® have
professed to see in the huntsman or archer the spirit of evil endeavour-
ing to wound or destroy the children of light ; others, the exact contrary.
“We offer to God the spoils of our chase,” says the Horfus Deliciarum,
‘when, by example or precept, we convert the wild beasts, that is to
say, wicked men. The chase of the Christian is the conversion of
sinners. These are represented by hares, by goats, by wild boars, or
by stags. The hares signify the incontinent ; the goats, the proud ;
the wild boars, the rich ; and the stags, the worldly-wise. These four
beasts we smite with four darts, by our example of continence, humility,
voluntary poverty, and perfect charity ; we pursue them with dogs
when we arouse their fears by the preaching of the word.” As both
birds and beasts are, in the present instance, of a distinctly predatory
and ferocious type, the archer, who in no way answers such descrip-

¢ As, apparently, for example, Dr. G. F. Browne, who, writing of the Bewcastle
cross (Conversion of the Heptarchy, 192), says of ‘the conventional trunk or
branch of a tree running in graceful curves from bottom to top,’ that ¢TIt
represents, in all probability, the idea of a tree of life. The animals and the birds
are peaceful and happy. This is in sharp contrast with similar representations
on pre-Norman stones of later date. I have fonnd, by removing some of the
earth at the foot, that the great cross in Bakewell churchyard has at the bottom
of all a man with a bow taking aim at the little creature nibbling the fruit at
the top. At Bradbourne, in Derbyshire, there are the fragments of a cross
equally noble with that at Bakewell; and there, again, on more than one side,
is a man at the foot taking aim at the squirrels or little foxes in the tree or vine.
The great cross at Sheffield has remarkable examples of the same kind. After
the Conquest this jarring note becomes still more conspicuous. Thus on the
slight colnmus of the portals at the west front of Lincoln Cathedral you have in
alternate eircles animals and men with spears attacking them. The whole idea
of peace has perished in the idea of sport or slaughter.’ )

And then again, in an Appendix (p. 223)—¢We are familiar with the idea of
hunting and slaughter in connection with Roman scroll work. My impression
is that the peaceful instinct of early Christian art eliminated this idea, and that
our earliest monuments in England were produced under that influence. Then
the influence of the pagan work asserted itself, and the idea of peace was lost in
the more mechanical copying of ancient examples which we find in
*“ Romanesqne " art.’

VOL. XX. 5
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tion, must therefore probably be interpreted in the latter sense—the
Christian soldier or missionary who, by the influence of a holy and
consistent course, ¢ emollit mores nec sinit esse feros.

But here, in this connexion, it may not be without interest to
note, on the other hand, a beautiful example of very early (perhaps
seventh century) date from Jedburgh (see plate V.), which presents
us with birds and beasts of a purely innocent and peaceful kind.
Sporting and feeding amid fruit and flowers, they are all enjoying
themselves in tranquil happiness, quite careless of the human foe who,
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at the very moment, mounts the branches of their ¢ world tree’ to
capture or destroy them. Another charming piece of sculpture from
Jarrow church, (illustrated by Mr. Hodges in the Reliquary),® here
also added by way of further illustration, is too fragmentary, perhaps,
to enable us to judge clearly of the general purport of the complete
design, though what is left might seem to show that its point of view,
or moral, agreed rather with that of the Auckland, than of the Jed-
burgh, sculpture. Ior here again the man, guarded by the shield of
faith,” would seem to be atiacking, as ‘a good soldier of Jesus Christ,
the powers of evil as represented by the wild beast ravening in the wood.
¢ The block has been kindly lent by Messrs, Bemrose & Sons of Derby,
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That in the very few and fragmentary Aunckland stones we should
find remains of no less than three distinct hunters is certainly not a
little remarkable, and serves to make ns regret the more deeply the
missing portions of the designs, and the parts that they were made to
play in them.

And now, as to the proximate age of this exceptionally fine and
remarkable fragment ; though we have neither inscription nor historical
record of any sort to help to fix it, the internal evidence of style alone
will quite suffice to do so, I think, within reasonable limits.

With the crosses of the earliest period—that is, of the seventh and
eighth centuries—it has clearly nothing in common. Of these, broadly
speaking, there may be said to be two distinct groups, viz. first, those
which are covered, more or less completely, with elegant and refined
scroll-work of fruit and foliage, full of classic grace and feeling, and
derived, as can hardly be doubted, from those on Samian, and other
Roman wares, and of which the Hexham and Nunnykirk* remains
afford such remarkable examples; and secondly, those which, largely
occupied with scenes from Scandinavian mythologies, like the crosses
of Leeds, Collingham, and Gosforth, for example, have the intervening
spaces filled with zoomorphic monsters and endlessly repeated varieties
of knot-work. Nothing suggestive of either one or other of these
groups is to be met with here. Nor with the later, and generally
inferior, mixed designs and workmanship of the immediately succeed-
ing periods is there any more affinity, still less, indeed. Least of all,
with that feeble and degraded kind of decoration which characterizes
so largely the work of the ninth and tenth centuries, and of which we
have such conspicuouns and well anthenticated examples as those dis-
covered at Gainford, and in the chapter house at Durham. Of all
these the dates are accurately ascertained : those at Gainford being
necessarily later than 821, when Egred, bishop of Lindisfarne, built
the first church there ; while those at Durham must just as necessarily
range between 995, when the body of S. Cuthbert was brought from
Chester-le-Street to its new resting place by bishop Ealdhun, and
1083, when his ‘congregation,” whose members they commemorated,
were dispersed by bishop William of S. Calais.

* See Arch. Ael., vol, xix, fa.cing p. 192, for a representation of the Nunnykirk
cross-shaft.
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And yet, with the remains both of the earliest and latest schools it
may, in some sense, be said to be in touch : with the first, in point of
artistic merit ; with the last, in that of time. Free from all trace of
mythological admixture, then evidently ceased, and, if not forgotten,
at least abandoned ; equally free from the spell of those persistent in-
terlacing and geometric patterns, sometimes, in the earlier instances,
as in the manuscripts, of the most elaborate and exact beauty, as,
usually, in the later, only coarsely and rudely imitative ; we see here
nothing but strictly Christian subjects, set forth with well nigh unpre-
cedented skill and boldness, and accompanied by decorative details of
nnsurpassable force and vigonr. Whatever its shortcomings, they are
attributable, it is clear, not to decadence, but immaturity ; not to the
worn-out powers of an expiring school of art, but to the untutored
energies of a new one. We see in it, in short, as striking a proof,
perhaps, of that great revival which took place in the early years of
the eleventh century as can anywhere be met with. To what particular
part of that century it should be referred is more than can be safely
said, nor need we enquire too particularly; but we shall not be far
wrong, perhaps, in connecting it, more or less closely, with the days of
Ealdhun, when Auckland, with which he may have had personal, as
well as proprietary, connexion, appears for the first time in history ; or
with those of his successor Eadmund, when king Cnut made his famous
pilgrimage to Durham, that is to say, broadly speaking, between the
years 1000 and 1050.

Should it, however, be objected that the Durham sculptures,
which must, to a.large extent, be contemporary with this Anckland
one, are as wholly different from it in style as they are miserably,
nay ludicrously, inferior to it both in design and execntion, then it
may be said that the spirit of life, and especially of reviving life, does
not influence all alike ; that men abreast, and in advance, of the art of
their day, and lagging dullards, are ever found side by side, and that
good and bad workmen, like good and bad fishes, are constantly taken
in the same net. In this case, the inspiration—like most other
inspirations, perhaps—has been personal ; nor, save in the Escomb
fragment which has manifestly proceeded from the same hand, wonld
it at present be possible to point to a second instance of parallel, or
even proximate, merit. The carver and designer, whoever he may
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have been, was unquestionably a man of very exceptional ability, who
took full measure of all his age could teach him ; and who, in making
this monument for another, has left one to himself which is absolutely
unequalled.”

III.—OF THE SITE AND ORIGIN OF THE CHURCH.

What the character of the original Saxon church to which this, and
the rest of the early sculptured stones pertained may have been,
nothing visible remains to show. Nor yet of that which either
succeeded it, or into which itself, in course of time, may have
developed, or been transformed. Only a few insignificant details,
chiefly small heads which have formed part of a corbel-table, remain
to witness that either the primitive, or some other, structure continued
to occupy the spot in post-Conquest days.

Bub more interesting, perhaps, than any other circumstance con-
nected with them was the site.  In the first place, as the parish
church of what were afterwards known as the two Ancklands,
it was built, in a fashion very common in Richmondshire, and not
unknown nearer home at Hamsterley, at a considerable distance, in
this case fully a mile, from both villages.® Whether or not any

? That such expression of opinion is neither exaggerated, nor due to local pre-
judice, may be inferred from the following passage in a paper by that very
competent archaeologist, the late Mr. Loftus Brock, F.S.A., hon. sec. of the
Archaeological Association, and which only fell under my notice since the above
account was written. After summing up the results of their visit to the district in
1886, and referring to the various examples of pre-Conquest work that they had
seen, he proceeds (vol. xliv. p. 177) :—* It was, however, at St. Andrew’s Auckland,
that the finest examples of these early works were met with. Here we found
portions of the shafts of crosses, carved with figures so admirably as to excel
anything which we had seen elsewhere, the character of the work being very
similar to that of Roman date. Other fragments were ornamented with
sculptured foliage so deeply undercut and so elaborately carved, as to approach
very nearly to Early English work of the middle of the thirteenth century.’
And, in conclusion, he adds further on :—‘The sculpture and carving at St.
Andrew’s Auckland, also indicate that their sculptors were well acquainted,
not only with the chisel, but that they could use it with good effect.’

8 Of this practice many illustrations might be adduced ; Startforth church,
near Barnard Castle, being one, which, though at no great distance from the
village, is yet quite apart from it, on the sloping bank of the Tees. The old
church of Rokeby, a little lower down the stream, and in a very similar
situation, would seem to have been another; but both church and village, if
there ever was one, have now for many years past been destroyed, in order to
isolate the Hall. It lay in a most peaceful and retired spot, close to the
confluence of the Tecs and Greta. Then, a little lower down still, there is the
exquisitely beautiful old church of Wycliffe, close to the water’s edge, to which
the churchyard lies open, and with only the rectory housc and old mill beside it.
The little parish church of Kasby, too, still nestles, as of yore, beneath the shelter



40 THE CHURCH OF AUCKLAND ST. ANDREW :

habitations began gradually to cluster round it, as about the episcopal
manor-house at Bishop’s, or North Auckland, cannot now be said ;
but, following those precedents, such was very probably not the case,
and it would then, like so many other ancient sanctuaries, stand quite
alone. The intense silence, the calm and peaceful beauty of the spot,
might, indeed, almost seem to demand such isolation. Crowning the
gentle eminence of a peninsula formed by the then limpid waters of
the Gaunless, which, still and silent, wound their devious way beneath
the foliage of great forest trees, no more fitting or solemn site for the
worship of the living or the burial of the dead, could be desired. But
now, alas | how changed. Of all that was once so fair, ¢ Fuit’ is the
brief, sad epitaph. The trees are gone : the grubbed up or rotten
stumps of some, the blackened and decaying trunks of others, remain
alone like mourners in the churchyard, the last, long-lingering relics
of the ancient woods. The primrose spangled turf, and bosky dells,
dim with ‘the nodding violet,” have long since ceased to be, a squalid
village, with all its unsavoury accompaniments, encroaching on, and
hemming in, the very church itself. The perfume of hawthorn and of
eglantine, the hum of vagrant bees, ‘the beetle’s noonday boom,
athwart the thicket lone,’” which served but to accentuate the solitude
and make the stillness more profound, are passed and gone. In place
of them, the smoke and stench, the discordant shriekings, the daily
and nightly roar and rattle of two convergent lines of railway.
Beyond, a howling wilderness of Welsh-slated pit rows and marky
chimneys pouring perpetual smoke ; while the bright, joyous stream
which lent such life and beanty to the scene, is now a loathsome ditch,
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